Una Aproximación Multinivel al Diseño Sistemático de Circuitos Integrados de Radiofrecuencia



Tesis Doctoral Fábio Moreira de Passos



Instituto de Microelectrónica de Sevilla



u 🕻

UNIVERSIDAD DE SEVILLA

Departamento de Electrónica y Electromagnetismo

Una Aproximación Multinivel al Diseño Sistemático de Circuitos Integrados de Radiofrecuencia

Memoria presentada por FÁBIO MOREIRA DE PASSOS

para optar al grado de Doctor

Los Directores

Francisco V. Fernández Fernández

Elisenda Roca Moreno

Sevilla, Febrero de 2018



Instituto de Microelectrónica de Sevilla



Acknowledgements

To Paco y Eli,

Thank you for everything I learned. For your help and patience, every single time I entered your office – and they were more than a few... per day!

> To Rafa, Thank you for always being available for me.

To all my colleagues at IMSE, especially, Hector, Antonio and Reinier, For all your technical advices, help and enjoyable moments.

To all the people I collaborated during my doctoral studies - from U. Gent, U. Barcelona and IST/IT especially, R. Martins, N. Lourenço and J. Sieiro For all your support, technical discussions and fruitful collaborations.

> To my entire Family, especially, Inês, Carlos and André, You are the most important thing in the world.

To Rita, One way or the other. Always here, always there – always present.

To J. Lisboa, M. Silva, N. Geraldes, M. Sena, P. Abreu, B. Uva, P. Tully, J. Caetano and C. Cruz, True friendship is hard to find, impossible to buy. Thank you for yours.

> To J. Oliveira and R. Herrera, For your friendship and all the cheerful moments in Seville.

> > Without all of you, I wouldn't be where I am today.

Fábio Moreira de Passos Seville, February 2018

To Inês, Carlos and André...

Contents

Li	st of	Figures	xi
Li	st of	Fables	xix
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Traditional Design Methodologies	2
	1.2	Automatic Circuit Design State-of-the-art	6
		1.2.1 Knowledge-Based Approaches	6
		1.2.2 Optimization-Based Approaches	6
		1.2.3 Hierarchical Optimization-Based Approaches	8
	1.3	Demands for an Accurate RF Automatic Circuit Design Methodology	11
		1.3.1 Circuit Performance Evaluation	12
		1.3.2 Integrated Inductor Modeling and Synthesis	12
		1.3.3 Taking into Account Layout Parasitics	14
		1.3.4 Taking into Account Process Variability	16
		1.3.5 Circuit Complexity	17
	1.4	Innovative Contributions	19
		1.4.1 Thesis Organization	20
	1.5	Publications and Achievements	21
		1.5.1 Journals	21
		1.5.2 Conferences	22
		1.5.3 Journals not included in this thesis	23
		1.5.4 Conferences not included in this thesis	23
		1.5.5 Achievements	23
2	RF	Receiver Architectures	25
	2.1	Receiver Architectures	26
		2.1.1 Superheterodyne Receiver	26
		2.1.2 Zero-IF Receiver	27
		2.1.3 Low-IF Receiver.	28

	2.2	Front-End Receiver Blocks
		2.2.1 Low Noise Amplifier
		2.2.2 Voltage Controlled Oscillator
		2.2.3 Mixer
3	Mod	leling and Synthesis of Radio-Frequency Integrated Inductors 41
	3.1	Integrated Inductor Design Insights
	3.2	Modeling Methodologies: Physical vs. Surrogate models
		3.2.1 Physical Modeling of Integrated Inductors
		3.2.2 Surrogate Modeling of Integrated Inductors
	3.3	Integrated Inductor Synthesis Methodologies
		3.3.1 Experimental Results: Single-Objective Optimizations 63
		3.3.2 Experimental Results: Multi-Objective Optimizations
	3.4	SIDe-O: A Tool for Modeling and Optimization of Integrated Inductors
		3.4.1 Designer Interface
4	Syst	tematic Design Methodologies for RF Blocks 79
	4.1	The Impact of Passive Modeling Techniques in Systematic Circuit Design
		Methodologies: LNA case study
		4.1.1 Experimental Results: Single-Objective Optimizations
		4.1.2 Experimental Results: Multi-Objective Optimizations
	4.2	LNA Design using a Bottom-up Systematic Circuit Design Methodology 91
		4.2.1 Experimental Results: Multi-Objective Optimizations
	4.3	VCO Design using a Bottom-up Systematic Circuit Design Methodology and
		Considering Process Variability
		4.3.1 Experimental Results: Multi-Objective Optimizations
	4.4	Mixer Design using a Systematic Circuit Design Methodology
		4.4.1 Experimental Results: Multi-Objective Optimizations
5	Syst	tematic Circuit Design Methodologies with Layout Considerations 115
	5.1	AIDA Framework: AIDA-L
	5.2	RF-Specific Layout-Aware Circuit Design Methodology
		5.2.1 RF Template-based Placer
		5.2.2 RF Fully-automatic Router
	5.3	Optimization-based Synthesis with Layout Considerations
		5.3.1 VCO Design using a Bottom-up Systematic Layout-Aware Methodology122
		5.3.2 LNA Design using a Bottom-up Systematic Layout-Aware Methodology132
		5.3.3 Mixer Design using a Bottom-up Systematic Layout-Aware Methodology .138

	5.4	Optimization-based Synthesis with Layout and Process Variability	
		Considerations	13
		5.4.1 VCO Design using a Bottom-up Systematic Layout-Corner-Aware	
		Methodology	13
6	Mul	tilevel Bottom-up Systematic Design Methodologies 14	19
	6.1	Cascaded Radio-Frequency Systems	50
		6.1.1 Gain of Cascaded Stages	50
		6.1.2 Noise Figure of Cascaded Stages	50
		6.1.3 <i>IIP</i> ₃ of Cascaded Stages	51
		6.1.4 Inter-Block Connection	51
	6.2	From Communication Standards to Circuit Specifications	52
	6.3	RF Front-End Systematic Design	55
		6.3.1 Passive Components and Individual Circuits Synthesis	57
		6.3.2 Multilevel Bottom-up Receiver Front-End Synthesis	52
	6.4	Alternative Decomposition Strategies in Receiver Front-End Synthesis	59
		6.4.1 Device-Level Hierarchical Optimization	<i>'</i> 0
		6.4.2 Circuit-Level Hierarchical Optimization	73
7	Con	clusions 17	77
Bi	bliog	raphy 17	79

List of Figures

1.1	Illustration of the top 10 ranking of fabless IC suppliers for 2017	2
1.2	Illustration of the design effort comparison between analog and digital, and between	
	analog (baseband) and RF. Illustration of the area differences between the analog and	
	digital parts.	2
1.3	Electrical and physical synthesis.	3
1.4	Top-down vs. bottom-up design methodologies.	4
1.5	General design flow for analog and RF integrated circuits.	4
1.6	Optimization-based methodology for circuit design	7
1.7	Top-down design methodologies	9
1.8	Bottom-up design methodologies	10
1.9	Illustrating Pareto dominance and Pareto-optimal front concepts for a 2-dimensional	
	performance space	11
1.10	Differences between inductor evaluation techniques in systematic circuit design	
	methodologies ((a) Model-based inductor, (b) EM-based inductor) and bottom-up	
	systematic circuit design methodologies ((c) EM-based inductor).	13
1.11	Typical integrated inductor physical model (π -model)	14
1.12	Illustrating different strategies to include parasitics in optimization-based methodologies.	15
2.1	Typical superheterodyne integrated RF receiver signal chain.	26
2.2	Illustrating the image problem in superheretodyne receivers.	27
2.3	Typical zero-IF integrated RF receiver signal chain.	27
2.4	Self mixing of the LO signal and a strong interferer	28
2.5	Illustrating the SNR	30
2.6	Low noise amplifier symbol	30
2.7	Two-port network	30
2.8	Illustrating the third-order intermodulation product at $\omega = 2\omega_2 - \omega_1$, which falls into the	
	wanted channel	34
2.9	Graphical interpretation of the IIP_3 in double logarithmic scaling. The intermodulation	
	product is growing with the power of three while the fundamental signal is growing linearly	34
2.10	Voltage controlled oscillator symbol.	35

2.11	(a) Illustrating the meaning of phase noise and (b) Phase noise problem in	
	down-conversion receivers	36
2.12	Mixer symbol.	37
2.13	Illustrating the <i>NF_{SSB}</i> in mixers.	39
2.14	Illustrating the <i>NF_{DSB}</i> in mixers.	39
3.1	Different inductor topologies.	42
3.2	Illustrating inductance and quality factor as a function of frequency for three different	
	inductors	43
3.3	Typical integrated inductor physical model (π -model)	44
3.4	Physical definition of the lumped-elements of the inductor model.	45
3.5	Square inductor, its physical parameters and the π -model equivalent circuit for each turn	
	of the inductor	46
3.6	Twenty-five segment octagonal spiral inductor layout.	48
3.7	Parallel segments.	49
3.8	Segments which are connected at one end	50
3.9	Case for when the intersection point is lying outside the two filaments.	51
3.10	Case for when the intersection point lies upon one filament.	51
3.11	General case for two segments placed in the same plane.	51
3.12	PSO flow chart.	59
3.13	NSGA-II flow chart.	60
3.14	Optimization-based inductor synthesis loop	62
3.15	Flow Diagram of ONSO/ONSOEI	64
3.16	Flat bandwidth zone.	65
3.17	Performance parameters of the 2nH inductor obtained in the first test example:	
	inductance and quality factor vs frequency curves	67
3.18	Layout of the 2nH inductor obtained in the first test example	67
3.19	Pareto-optimal front for a two objective optimization, maximizing quality factor and	
	inductance.	72
3.20	EM simulation of Pareto-optimal fronts for a 3 objective optimization, maximization of	
	quality factor and inductance and minimization of area using EMO and OFFSO methods.	73
3.21	Illustrating the hypervolume calculation.	74
3.22	EM simulation of Pareto-optimal front for a 3 objective optimization, maximization of	
	quality factor and inductance and minimization of area using EMO and $OFFSO_{\mathit{NF}}$ methods.	75
3.23	SIDe-O graphical user interface (GUI) shown in separate tabs. (a) Tab for inductor	
	simulation. (b) Tab for inductor optimization. (c) Tab to build new inductor models	77
4.1	General optimization-based methodology.	80

4.2	Illustrating how the inductor is modeled with the π -model	81
4.3	Illustrating the nport device and how the inductor is modeled with the surrogate model.	82
4.4	Surrogate model construction strategy	83
4.5	(a) Schematic of the LNA and (b) its testbench.	84
4.6	Comparisons of the LNA performances using the inductors obtained with the surrogate	
	model and the same inductors electromagnetically simulated. (a) Gain (S_{21}) , (b) Input	
	(S ₁₁) and output (S ₂₂) matching and (c) Noise figure (NF).	88
4.7	POF comparison of the optimization Gain vs. NF vs. Power using the surrogate and the	
	π -model	89
4.8	POF comparison of the optimization Gain vs. NF. vs. Power using the surrogate model	
	and after its inductors have been EM simulated (all LNAs meet constraints after the	
	inductors being EM simulated)	90
4.9	POF of the optimization Gain vs NF vs Power using the π -model and after its inductors	
	have been EM simulated	90
4.10	POF of the optimization Gain vs NF vs Power using the π -model (only LNAs which meet	
	constraints after the inductors being EM simulated are depicted).	91
4.11	Online bottom-up design strategy.	92
4.12	Offline bottom-up design strategy.	92
4.13	Inductor topology and POF used in the LNA optimization. (a) Instance of the octagonal	
	asymmetric inductor. (b) POF of 1000 points with the tradeoff $_{} Area~(\mu m)$ vs. Quality	
	factor vs. Inductance (nH) of the octagonal asymmetric inductor.	93
4.14	Illustrating the mutation operation for regular design variables.	93
4.15	Illustrating the mutation operation for indexed variables.	94
4.16	Illustrating the mapping of each inductor into a two-coordinate matrix.	94
4.17	(a) LNA POF obtained for the trade-off S_{21} vs. Area (example 1). From the ten runs of	
	each experiment, the one with highest and lowest hypervolume were selected.	
	Illustrating the evolution of the hypervolume versus the number of generations of the	
	optimization for example 1. (b) Online experiment (c) Offline experiment.	97
4.18	(a) LNA POF obtained for the trade-off NF vs. Area (example 2). From the ten runs of	
	each experiment, the one with highest and lowest hypervolume were selected.	
	Illustrating the evolution of the hypervolume versus the number of generations of the	
	optimization for example 2. (b) Online experiment (c) Offline experiment.	98
4.19	(a) LNA POF obtained for the trade-off P_{DC} vs Area (example 3). From the ten runs of	
	each experiment, the one with highest and lowest hypervolume were selected.	
	Illustrating the evolution of the hypervolume versus the number of generations of the	
	optimization for example 3. (b) Online experiment (c) Offline experiment.	99
4.20	(a) Schematic of the VCO. (b) VCO testbench.	101

4.21	Inductor topology and POF used in the VCO layout-aware optimization. (a) Instance of the octagonal symmetric inductor with guard ring. (b) POF of 1000 points with the	
	inductor with guard ring.	102
4.22	VCO POF obtained from the enhanced two-step optimization considering only nominal	104
4 23	PN vs_PDC projection of the VCO typical POF (from Fig. 4.22) compared with the same	104
	designs simulated with its corners (worst corner performance depicted)	105
4.24	Histogram showing the number of designs (Y-axis) that fail each constraint at each considered corner	105
4.25	VCO POF obtained from the enhanced two-step optimization considering all corners	107
4 26	(worst corner performances depicted)	107
4.20	models.	109
4.27	VCO performance variations for one design of the obtained POF, both the typical and the	
	corner models	109
4.28	(a) Schematic of the mixer and (b) its testbench.	110
4.29	Mixer POF obtained considering only nominal corner performances.	112
4.30	Comparison between the mixer typical POF (from Fig. 4.30) and the same designs	
	simulated with its corners (worst corner performance depicted)	113
4.31	Mixer POF obtained considering worst corner performances.	113
5.1	AIDA-L complete architecture	116
5.2	Detailed description of the proposed two-step RF-specific layout-aware circuit sizing loop	.118
5.3	General VCO schematic (without biasing circuitry) and a graphical representation of the	
	template hierarchy used for the layout generation. Devices are generated using the	
	custom module generator or imported as a GDSII file (gdsii).	119
5.4	XML template file which describes the template shown in Fig. 5.3.	120
5.5	Illustrating the use of no-crossing boxes in the template hierarchy.	121
5.6	Cross coupled double differential VCO schematic with output buffers.	122
5./	Inductor topology and POF used in the VCO layout-aware optimization. (a) Instance of the estagonal symmetric inductor with guard ring. (b) POE of 1000 points with the	
	tradeoff $Area (\mu m)$ vs. Quality factor vs. Inductance (nH) of the octagonal symmetric	
	inductor with guard ring.	123
5.8	VCO Sizing optimization: Pareto front showing the tradeoffs area in mm^2 vs. PN@1MHz	
	in dBc/Hz vs. P_{DC} in W of run_{VCOS2} .	124

5.9	Placement template hierarchy for the VCO. Shaded boxes refer to sub-partitions.	
	Devices, blocks or sub-partitions are either generated using the custom module	
	generator or imported as a GSDII file (gdsii).	125
5.10	<i>run_{VCOS2}</i> post-layout measures. Feasible points in post-layout are represented with	
	circles (6 of 256) and unfeasible points (fail) are represented with crosses (27 of 256).	
	The steady-state analysis failed convergence (n/c) in 223 points.	127
5.11	Automatically generated layout (a posteriori) from the run_{VCOS2} (considering only sizing	
	during the optimization). Layout with 0.348 mm^2 area	128
5.12	2 VCO layout-aware optimization: Pareto front with the tradeoff circuit area (mm^2) vs.	
	PN@1MHz (dBc/Hz) vs. P_{DC} (W) of RUN_{VCOLA4} . Two different layouts are also shown	
	with at the same scale in order to illustrate the differences on the area. Point LA1 with	
	higher area and point LA2 with lower area.	130
5.13	Automatically generated layout annotated. Solution obtained from the run_{VCOLA4}	
	(layout-aware optimization). Layout LA1, with 0.3512 mm^2 area.	131
5.14	Schematic of the LNA	132
5.15	inductor topology and POF used in the LNA layout-aware optimization. (a) Instance	
	of the octagonal asymmetric inductor with guard ring. (b) POF of 1000 points with the	
	tradeoff \sqrt{Area} in μm vs. Quality factor vs. Inductance in nH of the octagonal asymmetric	
	inductor with guard ring.	133
5.16	Placement template hierarchy for the LNA. Shaded boxes refer to sub-partitions. Devices,	
	blocks or sub-partitions are either generated using the custom module generator or	
	imported as a GSDII file (gdsii). Illustrating the use of <i>no-crossing</i> boxes in placement	
	templates	134
5.17	POF obtained with the Layout-aware optimization of the LNA	135
5.18	Automatically generated layout from the LNA layout-aware optimization. Layout with the	
	lowest P_{DC} from the POF.	136
5.19	Automatically generated layout from the LNA layout-aware optimization. Layout with the	
	highest S_{21} from the POF.	137
5.20	(a) Schematic of the mixer and (b) its testbench.	138
5.21	Placement template hierarchy for the mixer. Shaded boxes refer to sub-partitions.	
	Devices, blocks or sub-partitions are either generated using the custom module	
	generator or imported as a GSDII file (gdsii).	139
5.22	POF obtained with the Layout-aware optimization of the mixer.	140
5.23	Automatically generated layout from the mixer layout-aware optimization. Layout with	
	the lowest P_{DC} from the POF.	141
5.24	Automatically generated layout from the mixer layout-aware optimization. Layout with	
	the lowest NF from the POF.	142
5.25	Description of the developed layout-corner-aware methodology.	144

5.26	Layout-Corner-aware optimization of the VCO	145
5.27	Point LA1. VCO with the lowest area available from the layout-corner-aware optimization	
	shown in Fig. 5.26	146
5.28	Point LA2. VCO with the lowest phase noise available from the layout-corner-aware	
	optimization shown in Fig. 5.26	147
C 1		150
0.1	The relative contribution of everyonic strates to point and distantian	150
6.2	The relative contribution of successive stages to hoise and distortion.	151
0.3	(a) Front-end (b) LNA topology and testebench (c) VCO topology and testebench (d)	153
C A	Mixer topology and testebench.	153
0.4	inustrating now (a) the holse figure (<i>NF</i>), gain (S_{21}) and (b) the Output Matching (S_{22}) of the LNA are effected by the charges in C_{22} . The shedded area in (b) represente the	
	of the LNA are affected by the change in C_{OUT} . The shaded area in (b) represents the	1
сг	Entire prepared design methodology for the design of DE systems. Applied to the energies	154
0.5	Entire proposed design methodology for the design of RF systems. Applied to the specific	156
	Laductor topologics and POEs used in the VCO and UNA entimizations (a) Octagonal	120
0.0	inductor topologies and POFs used in the VCO and LNA optimizations. (a) Octagonal	
	asymmetric inductor topology. (b) POP of 1000 points with the tradeon \sqrt{A} real vs. Quality	
	inductor topology (d) POE of 1000 points with the tradeoff (Area vs. Quality factor vs.	
	Inductor topology. (a) POP of 1000 points with the tradeon \sqrt{Area} vs. Quality factor vs.	150
67	POE obtained for the UNA. The color har represents the newer consumption, which is	159
0.7	the fourth objective of the optimization	160
6.8	POE obtained for the VCO. The color bar represents the power consumption, which is	100
0.0	the fourth objective of the optimization	161
6.0	DOE obtained for the mixer. The color has represents the power consumption, which is	101
0.9	the fourth objective of the entimization	160
6 10	DOE of the front and compliant with the Plusteeth standard, for both examples in Table	102
0.10	POP of the front-ends compliant with the Bluetooth standard, for both examples in Table	164
C 11	0.0.	104
0.11	POF of the front ends compliant with the Rivetesth standard, for both examples in Table 6.6.	104
6.12	POF of the front-ends compliant with the Bluetooth standard while maximizing the	165
6 1 2	POE of the front and compliant with the Wi Ei standard while maximizing the receiver	102
6.13	POF of the front-ends compliant with the WI-FI standard while maximizing the receiver	105
C 14	FOM.	102
6.14	Front-end performance for the design with lowest power consumption compliant with	
	(b) DET cimulation (c) Conversion gain (d) Noise figure (c) Input restricts (f)	
	Third-order interception point	160
6 15	Timeline of the entire proposed design methodology for the design of PE systems	100
0.10	The and the entire proposed design methodology for the design of Kr systems.	103

6.16 Illustrating the bottom-up (BU) hierarchical optimization.	170
6.17 Illustrating the device-level (IND) optimization.	170
6.18 Comparison between the POFs obtained with the BU and IND strategies for the Bluetooth	
standard	172
6.19 Comparison between the POFs obtained with the BU and IND strategies for the Wi-Fi	
standard	172
6.20 Illustrating the circuit-level (CIR) optimization.	174
6.21 Comparison between the POFs obtained with the BU and CIR strategies for the Bluetooth	
standard	174
6.22 Comparison between the POFs obtained with the BU and CIR strategies for the Wi-Fi	
standard	174
6.23 Hypervolume metric over each generation for the Bluetooth standard.	175
6.24 Hypervolume metric over each generation for the Wi-Fi standard	175

List of Tables

Inductor variable ranges for the LHS sampling.	53
Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 240 test inductors.	53
Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 106 test inductors: reduced	
design space and using fitting factors	54
Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 240 test inductors: global model	
for all <i>N</i>	56
Inductance and quality factor average error for 240 test inductors (in %): one model for	
each <i>N</i>	56
Inductance and quality factor average error for 240 test inductors (in %): one model for	
each N filtered by SRF	58
SRF average error for 240 test inductors (in %)	58
Results of one execution with all methods targeted at $L = 2nH$ and maximizing Q . Area <	
400μmx400μm	66
Results of one execution with all methods targeted at $L = 2.5nH$ and maximizing Q.	
Area< 400μmx400μm	68
Mean values and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at	
$L = 2nH$ and maximizing Q. Area < 400 μ mx400 μ m	68
Mean values and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at	
$L = 2.5 nH$ and maximizing Q . Area< $400 \mu mx 400 \mu m$	68
Results of one execution with all methods targeted at $L = 2.9nH$ and maximizing Q.	
Area< 125μmx125μm	70
Results of one execution with all methods targeted at $L = 4.6nH$ and maximizing Q.	
Area< 140μmx140μm	70
Mean vaues and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at	
$L = 2.9 n H$ and maximizing Q. Area<125 μ mx125 μ m	71
Mean values and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at	
$L = 4.6 n H$ and maximizing Q. Area<140 μ mx140 μ m	71
Mean relative error in % for the predicted values of S-Parameters with respect to EM	
simulations	82
Design variables of the LNA optimization (other than inductors)	84
	Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 240 test inductors. Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 106 test inductors: reduced design space and using fitting factors

4.3	Inductor design variables	84
4.4	Desired Specification for the LNA optimization using PSO. Performances obtained by	
	using the surrogate model and the π -model. Performance deviation when inductors are	
	EM simulated	86
4.5	Design variables for the LNA designs obtained from optimization with PSO using both	
	inductor models	87
4.6	Statistical results of the LNA area obtained in different runs of the single-objective	
	optimization using PSO	88
4.7	Desired Specification and Constraints for the LNA optimization with objectives Gain vs.	
	NF vs. Power	89
4.8	Statistical results of the front metrics obtained in different runs using the surrogate model	
	and the π -model	91
4.9	Desired Specifications for the LNA optimization using NSGA-II for three different	
	examples. Number of individuals and generations for each example.	95
4.10	Hypervolume metrics for example one, two and three. Mean, best, worse and standard	
	deviation values	96
4.11	CPU time for the different experimental examples.	100
4.12	Design variables of the inductors	102
4.13	Design variables of the VCO	103
4.14	Design specifications for the VCO optimization.	103
4.15	Desired performances and specifications for the VCO optimization. Comparison between	
	the nominal corner and worst corner performances for five different Designs.	106
4.16	Design variables for the mixer optimization	111
4.17	Design specifications for the mixer optimization	111
5.1		123
5.2		124
5.3	Design specifications for the VCO optimization	125
5.4	Minimum and maximum objective values of the POFs obtained in ten sizing optimizations.	
	Post-layout simulation of the previous obtained POFs.	126
5.5	Pre- and post-layout performance comparison of sample points from execution run_{VCOS2}	127
5.6	Statistics of ten layout-aware optimizations with EM-characterized inductors	129
5.7	Performances of two designs from execution run_{VCOLA4} . Comparison between the	
	performances for LA1 design when the routing is extracted with Calibre xRC or EM	
	simulated	130
5.8	Inductor design variables	133
5.9	Design variables of the LNA optimization (other than inductors)	134

5.10	Desired Specification and Constraints for the LNA layout-aware optimization with	
	objectives Gain vs. Area vs. Power	134
5.11	Performances of two LNA obtained for the layout-aware optimization with objectives Gain	
	vs. Area vs. Power shown in Fig. 5.26	135
5.12	Design variables for the mixer optimization	138
5.13	Design specifications for the mixer optimization.	139
5.14	Performances of two mixer obtained for the layout-aware optimization with objectives	
	NF vs. CG vs. Power shown in Fig. 5.22.	140
5.15	Performances of two points from the optimization illustrated in Fig. 5.26	145
6.1	Inductor design variables	157
6.2	Desired specifications for the LNA, VCO, Mixer optimizations	158
6.3	Design variables of the LNA optimization (other than inductors)	160
6.4	Design variables of the VCO (other than inductors).	161
6.5	Design variables for the mixer optimization	161
6.6	Desired specifications for the receiver front-end optimizations and the number of	
	individuals and generations for the optimization.	163
6.7	Performances of the individual front-ends (and composing circuits) for the Bluetooth and	
	Wi-Fi standard (for example 2).	166
6.8	Design variables for one individual of the front-end POF (individual performances	
	illustrated in Fig. 6.14).	167
6.9	Comparison between the constraints of the different optimization strategies. Illustrating	
	the total number of design variables and constraints.	171

1

Introduction

In an emerging telecommunications market, evolving towards 5G [1], it is estimated that there are over 2 billion smartphones users nowadays [2]. Only by itself, this number is astonishing. But nothing compares to what is going to happen in the near future. The next technological boom is directly related to the emerging internet-of-things (IoT) market. It is estimated that by 2020, there will be 20 billion physical devices connected and communicating with each other [3], which gives more than 2 physical devices per person on the planet. Due to this technological boom, new and interesting investment and research opportunities will emerge. In fact, it is estimated that in 2020 approximately 3 billion dollars will be invested in this market alone, 50% more than in 2017 [3]. Due to the fact that most of these IoT devices will have to communicate wirelessly among each other, and that radio-frequency (RF) circuits are essential for that purpose, there is, and there will be a high demand for RF circuits, nowadays and in the foreseeing years. Therefore, it is easy to understand why integrated chip (IC) design companies specialized in RF, are already the companies which generate more income among all the fabless IC suppliers (e.g., Qualcomm and Broadcom, see Fig. 1.1).

The problem is that the design of RF circuits in nanometric technologies is becoming extremely difficult due to its increasing complexity. Designing an RF circuit is one of the most challenging tasks in nowadays electronics, due, partially, to its demanding specifications, convoluted trade-offs and high operating frequencies. In fact, compared to its analog (baseband) and digital counterparts, the RF design requires a higher design effort despite the comparatively low number of devices (see Fig. 1.2). With todays' strict time-to-market restrictions and the need for design solutions with very demanding performance specifications, one of the areas where it is extremely important to focus is on the development of new systematic design methodologies for RF circuits. These RF circuit design methodologies must allow the designer to obtain circuits which comply with the demanding

2017E Rank	Company	Headquarters	2016 Tot IC	2017E Tot IC	2017/2016 % Change
1	Qualcomm	U.S.	15,414	17,078	11%
2	Broadcom Ltd.	Singapore	13,846	16,065	16%
3	Nvidia	U.S.	6,389	9,228	44%
4	MediaTek	Taiwan	8,809	7,875	-11%
5	Apple*	U.S.	6,493	6,660	3%
6	AMD	U.S.	4,272	5,249	23%
7	HiSilicon	China	3,910	4,715	21%
8	Xilinx	U.S.	2,311	2,475	7%
9	Marvell	U.S.	2,407	2,390	-1%
10	Unigroup**	China	1,880	2,050	9%
_	Top 10 Total	_	65,731	73,785	12%
_	Other	_	24,694	26,825	9%
_	Total Fabless/System	_	90,425	100,610	11%

2017E Top 10 Fabless/S	ystem IC Com	panies (S	\$M)	
------------------------	--------------	-----------	------	--

*Custom ICs provided by foundries for internal use.

**Includes Spreadtrum and RDA

Source: Company reports, IC Insights' Strategic Reviews database

Figure 1.1: Illustration of the top 10 ranking of fabless IC suppliers for 2017 [4].



Figure 1.2: Illustration of the design effort comparison between analog and digital, and between analog (baseband) and RF. Illustration of the area differences between the analog and digital parts.

specifications in a reasonable time.

1.1. Traditional Design Methodologies

In the analog and RF domain, the traditional design methodology follows the flow illustrated in Fig. **1.3**. The design of an IC starts by the definition of the circuit performances that have to be achieved, and then, the so-called electrical and physical synthesis have to be performed. These synthesis stages compose the core of any design flow and are the most important stages of any circuit design methodology. The first step of the flow is the electrical synthesis, where the designer must select an appropriate circuit topology and *size* the design. This *sizing* operation is a process where the designer finds the dimensions of each device used (transistors, capacitors, etc.) in order to meet the desired specifications. The output of this electrical synthesis is a schematic, which contains a list of all

the devices composing the circuit and how they are connected. Furthermore, and more importantly, this schematic also includes the sizes of each single device (e.g., transistor lengths and widths, etc.). After the electrical synthesis is performed, the physical synthesis must be achieved. The goal of this step is to attain the physical representation of the circuit, known as layout. This layout is a collection of geometric shapes and layers which are later used for fabrication. After the physical synthesis, the layout of the circuit must be verified, and, if valid, it is ready for fabrication. If not, some re-design stages are needed.



Figure 1.3: Electrical and physical synthesis.

If the circuit/system under design is too complex, analog/RF designers use divide-and-conquer techniques in order to reduce the complexity of the entire system. The basic idea is to partition the system into smaller pieces, which are easier to manage. This is known as hierarchical partitioning. The most well-known hierarchical design strategies are the top-down and bottom-up design methodologies, as shown in Fig. 1.4.

In top-down design methodologies, the designer starts by designing the system level, and the performances are consecutively derived for the lower levels, until reaching the device level. The circuit is designed in a more "abstract" way in high-levels, relying in e.g., behavioral simulations, and, at lower-levels, more precise simulations can be performed. Furthermore, at each level of the design hierarchy, a verification stage must be performed in order to check if the design is valid. One of the advantages of top-down methodologies is that the specifications for the entire system are known since an initial design stage (although only estimated). However, if any of the circuits composing the system do not attain the necessary performances, some re-design iterations are needed in order to achieve the desired specifications. In the worst possible scenario, the complete system architecture must be changed. On the other hand, in bottom-up design methodologies, the design stage starts by the device-level and ends up in the system-level. The main disadvantage of bottom-up methodologies is that the system performances are only verified when all its composing blocks are designed, which can



Figure 1.4: Top-down vs. bottom-up design methodologies.

lead to major design changes later in the design process.

In practice, the basic idea of traditional design methodologies, is that, at each level of the hierarchy, the designer must perform a top-down electrical synthesis and a bottom-up physical synthesis, both needing a verification stage, as shown in Fig. 1.5.



Figure 1.5: General design flow for analog and RF integrated circuits.

As part of the electrical synthesis, the designer must select the architecture/topology which is capable of achieving the desired specifications. Afterwards, the sizing process in performed. At higher

levels, the sizing is the process of mapping the current level specifications into the needed specifications for the immediately lower level. At device level, sizing is the process of dimensioning each passive and active circuit component. After the topology selection and sizing operation, the design is simulated and verified in order to check if the specifications are met. If the specifications are met, the flow continues to the next level.

The physical synthesis involves the layout generation stage, where the layout of a device, or circuit is generated. Afterwards, the layout is checked against a set of technology-defined rules with a designrule check (DRC), and a layout-versus-schematic (LVS) check is performed, and if both checks are valid, the layout is acceptable for fabrication. However, a parasitic extraction (EXT) must be performed. This is important in order to extract the layout-induced effects. These layout-induced effects add a set of capacitances, resistances and inductances to the circuit, and therefore, may change its performances. If the specification are not met after the layout extraction, the layout must be performed again or, in a worse scenario, a re-sizing operation must be performed. The illustration of the complete hierarchical design for the levels of abstraction previously discussed (system, circuit and device), is shown in Fig. **1**.5.

All steps of the hierarchical flow shown in Fig. 1.5, can undertake several re-design iterations in order to reach the final system design that meets all specifications, therefore making the process of designing an IC a long and (usually) repetitive task. Hence, in order to relieve the designer from these long and repetitive tasks, the IC design process can be automated. In an ideal scenario, designers would have an electronic design automation (EDA) tool that could automatically perform the steps demonstrated in Fig. 1.5, something defined as a silicon compiler [5]. With this ideal tool, the user would only stipulate the desired specifications for his/her system and the tool would automatically generate the IC ready for fabrication. However, such a tool does not exist. In the digital domain the automatic circuit design tools are relatively close to the previously described silicon compiler. However, in the analog domain, and especially in RF, this silicon compiler is yet nothing but a dream.

Therefore, the main topic of this dissertation is to focus on the development of new systematic design methodologies capable of improving the state-of-the-art and cut short the distance between the RF and digital automatic design tools. By doing so, it will be possible to shorten the existing productivity design gap in RF circuit design.

In Section 1.2 a brief historical background on automatic circuit design is performed, and the current state-of-the-art is overviewed. In order to establish a new design methodology for RF systems, different bottlenecks of the RF design process must be addressed in order to successfully design such circuits. Hence, in Section 1.3, the demands for an accurate RF system design methodology are discussed. The issues tackled by this thesis and the proposed innovative contributions are illustrated in Section 1.4 and, in Section 1.5, the publications and achievements accomplished during the author's doctoral studies are presented.

1.2. Automatic Circuit Design State-of-the-art

In this Section the state-of-the-art on automatic circuit design methodologies is reviewed. As previously mentioned, the electrical and physical synthesis are the core of any design methodology and therefore, the state-of-the-art for both of them is reviewed.

1.2.1. Knowledge-Based Approaches

The basic idea of knowledge-based approaches is to have a pre-defined design plan, in the form of design equations or design strategies, to find the circuit sizing/layout so that the specifications are met. These type of tools are known as knowledge-based approaches because they use knowledge and expertise from the designer in order to establish/define a design plan for a given circuit.

Knowledge-Based Electrical Synthesis

In the 90's, several tools were developed which could automatically perform electrical synthesis of analog circuits [6–10]. In these tools, the design plan was basically a set of analytical equations, which were used to solve the circuit. The tool provided the means to automatically execute a routine that would solve all the equations and therefore size the circuit under study. The main advantage of these approaches is its short execution time. However, deriving the design plan is hard and time-consuming, the derived equations are usually too simple and do not incorporate all the device physics. Moreover, the design plan requires constant maintenance in order to keep it up to date with technological evolution, and the results are not optimal, suitable only as a first-cut design.

Knowledge-Based Physical Synthesis

In order to perform circuit physical synthesis, other knowledge-based tools, were also developed. Roughly, the phases of layout generation are *placement*, where all circuit components are distributed over the layout plane (also called floorplan), and *routing*, where all components are interconnected. Automatic knowledge-based layout generation tools, were developed in order to generate the circuit layout in such a way that placement and routing were specified in advance. There are two types of knowledge-based approaches for automatic layout generation: rule-based and template-based approaches. Rule-based approaches use a set of rules, that have to be followed by whichever placement and routing algorithms are used during circuit layout generation [11]. In template-based approaches, the main idea is to capture the designer expertise in a template that specifies all necessary component floorplanning and the routing spatial relationships. Moreover, the template, must capture analog specific constraints like routing symmetry and device matching [12].

1.2.2. Optimization-Based Approaches

Knowledge-based design tools were developed in order to automatize some of the tasks inherent to analog/RF designers, without aiming at optimality. In order to reach optimal designs, optimization algorithms can be used in order to perform electrical/physical synthesis. The design of any

circuit/system can be posed as an optimization problem, mathematically defined as

minimize
$$f(x); f(x) = \{f_1(x), f_2(x), ..., f_n(x)\} \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

such that $g(x) \ge 0; g(x) = \{g_1(x), g_2(x), ..., g_m(x)\} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ (1.1)
where $x_{Li} \ge x_i \ge x_{Ui}, i \in [1, p]$

where *x* is a vector with *p* design parameters, each design parameter being restricted between a lower limit x_{Li} and an upper limit x_{Ui} . The functions f_j , with $1 \le j \le n$, are the objectives that will be optimized, where *n* is the total number of objectives. The functions g_k , with $1 \le k \le m$, are design constraints. The basic approach to solve Eq. (1.1) is illustrated in Fig. 1.6. It is possible to observe that the optimization algorithm is linked with a performance estimator, where the designer chooses the circuit performances to be considered (optimization objectives and constraints) and executes the algorithm which then returns the circuit sizing (e.g., widths and lengths of transistors).



Figure 1.6: Optimization-based methodology for circuit design

Optimization-Based Electrical Synthesis

While performing optimization-based electrical synthesis, there are two main categories, namely, equation-based and simulation-based.

The equation-based methods use analytical equations in order to evaluate the circuit performances. Several tools were developed which implemented this method [13–21]. Equation-based optimization-based sizing is similar to the knowledge-based sizing methods in the sense that they both use relatively simple analytical equations in order to estimate the circuit performances. However, equation-based methodologies do not need an explicit "design plan" to be defined. Also, the methods presented in this Section go a step further by linking the equations with optimization algorithms, which were developed in order to reach optimal results. Similarly to the knowledge-based approaches, the advantage of equation-based methods is the short evaluation time. These methods are extremely suitable to find first-cut designs. However, like the knowledge-based approaches, the main drawback is that not all physical characteristics of the devices can be easily captured by analytic equations, making the method

inaccurate (especially for RF circuits) and the generalization to different circuits, technologies and specifications is very time-consuming because new equations have to be derived.

Equation-based optimization methodologies are suitable because they are computationally cheap and therefore very fast to evaluate, and can be used in order to achieve first-cut designs. However, they lack sufficient accuracy. Therefore, instead of using analytical equations in order to estimate the circuit performances, a circuit simulator (e.g., electrical simulator [22]) should be used in order to accurately estimate the circuit performances. The advantage is that these type of simulators tend to be much more accurate than analytical equations. The methods linking an optimization algorithm with a circuit simulator are usually defined as simulation-based strategies. Therefore, in order to obtain more accurate designs, these simulation-based optimization gained ground and became the most common optimization-based strategy. Some of the developed works that employ these simulation-based sizing methods can be found in [23–40].

Optimization-Based Physical Synthesis

Several tools have been developed that are able to perform physical synthesis using optimization-based approaches. With such tools, placement and routing stages of the layout generation are determined by an optimization algorithm according to a certain cost function. This cost function typically considers the minimization of some design aspect, such as, layout area or routing length. Furthermore, some constraints may be used in order to penalize the violation of some analog/RF design constraints, such as symmetrical RF signal paths, device mismatch, etc.

Some of the developed tools, the so-called heuristic approaches, are able to automatically generate layouts from circuit descriptions, while handling typical layout constraints such as, device matching, symmetry, etc. However, these approaches do not account for the performance degradation that appear due to devices physical implementation [41]. Therefore, they do not provide promising results because the layout parasitic effects, which highly degrade the performances of the circuits, are not taken into account during the design stage. Therefore, one of the keys in order to have a successful circuit synthesis is that the electrical synthesis and the physical synthesis should not be considered as separate steps of the design methodology. Hence, new optimization-based physical synthesis approaches appeared, the so-called performance-driven. In these approaches, the layout-induced effects are taken into account [42]. These performance-driven tools try to measure the layout-induced degradation and keep it below desired margins. Thus, the impact of each layout parasitic is weighed out according to its effect on the circuit performance.

1.2.3. Hierarchical Optimization-Based Approaches

Similarly to what happens in the traditional circuit design flow, the divide-and-conquer techniques can also be used in optimization-based methodologies in order to ease the optimization and therefore the design process. This kind of divide-and-conquer techniques are particular useful, because, when the problem is too complex (e.g., too many design variables), optimization algorithms struggle to converge

to optimal solutions, and the process can become inefficient. Therefore, the previously described top-down and bottom-up design strategies can be applied to optimization-based design methodologies

The top-down design methodologies are illustrated in Fig. 1.7. In top-down design methodologies the designer sets the specification for the highest level (e.g., system level). During the high-level optimization, the "design variables" are the performances for the lower-level circuits. After obtaining the high-level design, the performances for the lower-levels (e.g., Sub-block 1, Sub-block 2, etc.), must be attained, and this process continues down to the lowest-level of the hierarchy (e.g., SB1.1, SB1.2, etc.). Several works used these type of design methodology [31, 33].



Figure 1.7: Top-down design methodologies

The problem with this kind of methodologies is that the designer usually uses a system level design tool in order to obtain the specifications of lower level blocks. Afterwards, when the designer tries to synthesize the lower-level blocks, it may happen that some of the needed specifications are impossible to meet and therefore, re-design cycles are needed, which will degrade the efficiency of the entire process.

In order to reduce, or even eliminate, the re-design cycles, bottom-up design methodologies can be used. Fig. 1.8 illustrate this type of methodologies. The main idea in bottom-up methodologies is to start designing the system from the circuit-level (e.g., SB1.1, SB1.2, etc.) until reaching the system-level. Several different works employed this methodology [35–40].

Both top-down and bottom-up design methodologies can be assisted by several different optimization algorithms. In top-down methodologies, the design variables at each level are usually the performances for lower levels. Therefore, when the designer optimizes the lower level, he/she is trying to synthesize those performances. In order to do so, single-objective optimization algorithms are commonly used (n=1 in Eq. (1.1)). Therefore, at each level the designer would achieve only one design (illustrated by the dot at each level of Fig. 1.7). However, in bottom-up design methodologies the use of single-objective optimization algorithms is impossible because, when going from lower to higher levels the designer does not know *a priori* which performances he/she is looking for in order to satisfy the system specifications. Therefore, multi-objective optimization algorithms must be used (n>1 in Eq. (1.1)). While the solution to the single-objective optimization algorithms is a single-objective optimization algorithms must be used (n>1 in Eq. (1.1)).



Figure 1.8: Bottom-up design methodologies

design point, the solution to the multi-objective optimization algorithms is a set of solutions exhibiting the best trade-offs between the objectives (illustrated by the curve at each level of Fig. 1.8, for a case with two objectives). Therefore, when synthesizing a given high-level block, the design space of that optimization is set by the designs available from lower levels. In practical terms, what the designer is doing with these methodologies, is exploring the design space of each level and finding the optimal designs for that level, hence, building an optimized library for each device/circuit/system.

When discussing multi-objective optimization algorithms, a few key concepts must be first established. In single-objective optimization algorithms, the final obtained solution can be considered the best one because it is the one that achieved the "best" value for the objective function value f(x). However, for multi-objective optimization this cannot be performed because there are several objectives. Therefore a new concept must be established. This concept is denoted as Pareto dominance. A design point *a* is considered to *dominate* the design point *b*, if $f(a) \leq f(b)$ and $f_i(a) < f_i(b)$ for at least one objective *i* (for minimization problems). The design point *a* is said to be non-dominated if there is no other design point that dominates it. The non-dominated set of the entire feasible¹ search space is known as Pareto set, exhibiting the best trade-offs between the objectives, i.e., the Pareto optimal front (POF). The concept of Pareto dominance and the Pareto optimal front are described in Fig. 1.9 for a problem where both $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ are minimized. It is possible to see that y^a is non-dominated and Pareto optimal because $f_2^a(x)$ and $f_1^a(x)$ are lower than $f_2^{b,c}(x)$ and $f_1^{b,c}(x)$.

These multi-objective optimization algorithms are extremely useful since the circuit sizing is in its essence a multi-objective problem, and the designer often wants to explore the trade-offs among conflicting performances, for example, the power consumption versus gain of a low noise amplifier.

¹A feasible point is a point that complies with the constraints of the optimization problem



Figure 1.9: Illustrating Pareto dominance and Pareto-optimal front concepts for a 2-dimensional performance space

1.3. Demands for an Accurate RF Automatic Circuit Design Methodology

From all the cited works so far, most of them are centered on the analog and mixed-signal domain, and only a few of them found its path to the RF world (e.g., [28, 32, 35, 40]). The design (and consequently automation) of RF circuits if far more complex and delicate than the analog ones due to several reasons. The difference between baseband and RF is largely due to the fact that capacitive and inductive reactances tend to be more significant at high frequencies than they are at lower frequencies. At the lower frequencies, those reactances exist, but they can usually be ignored. On the other hand, at RF frequencies, the parasitic or distributed reactances tend to be significantly high in order to establish resonance. Another fact that highly affects the automation of RF circuit design is the time and accuracy of the analysis needed. The analysis needed to estimate the RF circuit performances are more time-consuming than the ones used in the analog baseband domain (e.g., AC analysis vs. periodic steady-state analysis). Furthermore, techniques such as periodic steady-state (PSS), have only been available in the last few years, leaving early RF designers with limited options such as transient analysis, which is highly time-consuming. Also, in the past, the available techniques used in order to calculate performances like e.g., circuit noise were fuzzy and sometimes inaccurate [32].

Even in modern times, with modern commercial SPICE-like simulators, the efficiency of optimization-based approaches can be hampered due to convergence issues in analysis such as PSS and, performances such as *IIP*₃ usually need power sweeps, which highly decrease the efficiency of the optimization process. Therefore, it can be concluded that developing an efficient automated circuit design methodology is not an easy task. In order to develop an accurate automated RF circuit design methodology some of the biggest bottlenecks are: the accurate modeling of passive components such as integrated inductors, the layout-parasitics that are very important in RF

frequencies, and the process variability which highly affects nanometer technologies. Another important issue, is the circuit complexity that the methodology is able to cope with. Most of the automated circuit design methodologies presented in literature are only suited for the RF block level design. When the system level is reached, designers usually use high-level simulation tools in order to estimate performances. However, these high-level tools may introduce some deviation from an actual transistor-level simulation. This fact is even more important in RF, because accuracy is a must.

In the next Sections the issues that must be tackled in order to develop an accurate and efficient automated RF IC design methodology are discussed in detail.

1.3.1. Circuit Performance Evaluation

In RF design, evaluating the circuit performances with analytical equations is not a valid approach because they are simply not sufficiently accurate. RF circuits are extremely sensitive to any performance deviation, which may cause the circuit to malfunction. Therefore, RF circuit simulators must be used, such as SpectreRF [43], EldoRF [44] or HspiceRF [45]. Commercial SPICE-like circuit simulators are probably the most established CAD tool in the RF design flow, being used to verify the performance of the circuit since the early design stages until post-layout validations. Therefore, this is a mandatory requirement for high accuracy. However, some analysis are lengthy and can have convergence problems, as mentioned before. Therefore, the designer must use/develop efficient simulation strategies for each performance.

1.3.2. Integrated Inductor Modeling and Synthesis

In nowadays RF ICs, passive components play a key role in circuit design for impedance matching, tuning, filtering, or biasing. For example, it is estimated that in a cellular phone, passive components account for 90% of the component count, 80% of the size, and 70% of the cost [46]. From all passive components (e.g., resistors, capacitors and inductors), while resistors and capacitors are accurately modeled in CMOS technologies, inductors are still a bottleneck for designers. Several authors discussed the inclusion of inductors' performances during their optimization methodologies using several different strategies. The most straightforward option is to use foundry-provided inductor libraries/models, as performed in [28, 40, 47] (see Fig. 1.10 (a)).

However, these models usually do not provide sufficient accuracy for these passive components. Furthermore, if an inductor library is provided by the foundry, it is usually a limitative option because it reduces the possibility of finding an optimal inductor for a given application. Therefore, some authors fancy using simulators/models that are able to relate performance parameters with the inductor geometric parameters, which provide a wider range of inductor choices. The most accurate inductor evaluator (electromagnetic (EM) simulator) was used in [48] (see Fig. 1.10 (b)). However, EM simulations are very time-consuming and, therefore, including them in an optimization-based process, where thousands of simulations must be performed, makes it an inefficient option.


Figure 1.10: Differences between inductor evaluation techniques in systematic circuit design methodologies ((a) Model-based inductor, (b) EM-based inductor) and bottom-up systematic circuit design methodologies ((c) EM-based inductor).

Moreover, the circuit designed in [48], has only one inductor. If a circuit with more inductors is needed, the number of EM simulations would increase, converting this method into an unaffordable one. On the other hand, analytical/physical models are able to calculate inductor performances very efficiently. In [49] a compact model is used to incorporate the inductor performances during the optimization of RF power amplifiers. Similar methodologies use inductor analytical models, such as the π -model (see Fig. 1.11 [50]) [30, 51, 52] or 2π -model [53] (see Fig. 1.10 (a)). However, most of the analytical models do not present sufficient accuracy, especially at high frequencies [54]. As a way of achieving EM accuracy but avoiding EM simulations during the optimization of a given circuit, in [35, 55] a Pareto optimal front (POF) of EM simulated inductors is obtained prior to any circuit optimization, and then, the inductor POF is used as optimal design space during a given circuit optimization (see Fig. 1.10 (c)). By doing so, the inductors are modeled with EM accuracy and no EM simulation is performed during a circuit optimization, reducing therefore the total circuit design time. Furthermore, the POF has to be generated only once for a given inductor topology and operating frequency, and can later be used in several circuit optimizations. However, even though the inductor POF generation is only performed once for a given topology and operating frequency, the generation of the POF could still take weeks. Hence, if a new inductor topology is needed, or the circuit operating frequency changes, a new inductor POF has to be generated, which is a very lengthy process.

In the last few years, surrogate inductor models have risen as an attractive alternative aimed at combining the efficiency of analytical models with the accuracy of EM simulation [54]. Surrogate models



Figure 1.11: Typical integrated inductor physical model (π -model)

can be global or local. The former ones try to construct a high-fidelity model that is as accurate as possible over the complete search space. Once the model is built, it can be used as a fast performance evaluator in an optimization algorithm for inductor synthesis [56]. However, it has been reported that these models may be highly inaccurate in some regions of the design space, yielding suboptimal results [57]. On the contrary, local models are iteratively improved during the inductor optimization process [58]. An initial coarse model is first created by using a few electromagnetically simulated training points. Then, this coarse model is used within a population-based optimization algorithm and, at each iteration, promising solutions (typically one) are simulated electromagnetically. The data from these EM simulations are used to improve the accuracy of the surrogate model in the region where the new simulation points are added, while evolving towards the presumed optimal inductor. However, the results may highly depend on the accuracy of the initial coarse surrogate model. A prescreening technique, e.g., the expected improvement (EI) method, which can be used to increase the quality of the optimization process, consists in using the uncertainty measurement of the prediction, i.e., the mean square error (MSE), instead of just the predicted value to rank promising solutions. These methods have been widely applied to single-objective optimization [59, 60] and some more recent attempts have tried to extend these approaches to the multi-objective case $\begin{bmatrix} 61-63 \end{bmatrix}$.

1.3.3. Taking into Account Layout Parasitics

Nowadays, the circuit sizing automation by means of optimization-based techniques is an established concept. However, in order to achieve robust circuit designs, complete circuit layout parasitic effects have to be considered during the automatic flow. This is even more critical for RF ICs where the impact of the layout parasitics is highly destructive due to the high operating frequencies.

Parasitic-Inclusive Methodologies

During the past few years, several parasitic-inclusive methodologies were developed. These methodologies tried to shorten the gap between schematic and physical circuit implementations.

Parasitic-inclusive methodologies are approaches that use performance/symbolic models in order to estimate the impact of the layout parasitics and calculate the circuit performances. Some works, such as [64, 65], use symbolic models in order to estimate the effects of critical interconnections and layout parasitics. By using performance models, the layout parasitic estimation may sometimes be inaccurate. These approaches, based on performance models, are illustrated in Fig. 1.12 (a). In [66–68] the parasitics are extracted from a first coarse layout, and afterwards this parasitic information is used in order to create models which are then used during the optimization to estimate the performance of given solutions. The problem is that the parasitic information associated with a single layout design (or a reduced set) does not capture all parasitic variations that could be found during sizing, and, therefore, promising solutions may be lost. These approaches, based on parasitic sampling, are illustrated in Fig. 1.12 (b).



Figure 1.12: Illustrating different strategies to include parasitics in optimization-based methodologies.

None of the methodologies presented in Fig. 1.12 (a) and (b) perform an explicit layout generation during the optimization flow for each tentative sizing. The methodologies that are able to create a layout for each sizing solution during the optimization loop are designated as layout-aware methodologies, and are described in the following sub-Section

Layout-Aware Methodologies

While layout generation in-the-loop (Fig. 1.12 (c)) represents an overhead during optimization, having the layout readily available allows the computation of the precise parasitics for each specific solution without approximations.

In [69, 70] RF-specific methodologies were developed. In these works, a tool that is able to generate the physical layout of a device by means of an automatic routine is used. Such tool is defined as a module generator (MG) [71]. In [69], this MG was integrated into an automatic layout generator that uses automatic routines in order to place the devices in a previously described and always fixed position². The tools that follow the same procedure/routine to perform the circuit layout are defined as procedural layout generators. Procedural generators are used to create the layout of each individual solution during the optimization, and while in [69] only the parasitics of the critical nets were extracted using 1D/2D capacitance models, in [70], a more extensive set of parasitics are obtained using standard rule-based and quasi-static inductance extraction techniques. These techniques are illustrated in Fig. 1.12 (c).

It can be concluded that the only RF-specific methodologies that perform an automatic layout during the optimization loop adopt limitative procedural layout generators. Therefore, in order to obtain a more dynamic approach, instead of the procedural layout generators, template-based approaches should be considered [72–75]. In these template-based approaches the designer defines a layout template (or multiple templates) for a given circuit which may include a complete description of the floorplan.

For parasitic extraction, the analytical/geometrical 1D/2D, rule-based and quasi-static methods present satisfactory results for baseband, however, the accuracy of such extractions is inferior when compared to the accuracy of 2.5D rule-based techniques or 3D field solvers. Therefore, for the upmost accuracy, these 2.5D rule-based techniques or a 3D field solver should be used.

1.3.4. Taking into Account Process Variability

When designing a circuit, the designer must take into account that some variation will occur between the simulated and the fabricated design. Variation is a huge problem in nanometer technologies, and failing to effectively take into account these variations can cause re-design iterations which ultimately result in product delays. These are serious issues that directly impact the revenues, profits, and ultimately, valuations of semiconductor companies and foundries alike. The variation causes may take many forms: environmental variations, such as temperature, power supply voltage, etc, or process and mismatch variations. While the environmental variations affect the circuit after its fabrication, process and mismatch variations are introduced during manufacturing, by random dopant fluctuations and other manufacturing problems (lithography, etc.). The process variations are inter-die, meaning that they affect all dies' equally. On the other hand, the mismatch is an intra-die phenomena, which means they affect devices in the same die. Several automatic design methodologies have been proposed, that incorporate the variability effects into their flow in different ways. Some approaches estimate the circuit performances at its performance "corners". A corner is a point in the performance variation space, which represents the (supposedly) bounds of the model parameters. These corners enable a fast strategy to include process variability in automatic design methodologies. However, by considering only the device

²e.g., device A placed left of device B, device C on top of device A and B.

corner performances, the designer does not have an insight on the mismatch and on an important measure in variability-aware methodologies: the yield. The yield is the percentage of manufactured circuits that meet specs across all environmental conditions, expressed as a percentage, such as e.g., 95% [76]. In order to have a yield estimation, the designer must perform a circuit statistical analysis, such as Monte-carlo. However, this analysis involve hundreds of simulations which is a very timeconsuming process. This process gets even worse when optimization-based methodologies are used, where thousands of simulations would have to be performed. In [77], a variability-aware methodology is considered by calculating the circuit performances at the nominal and performance corners of each tentative sizing solution. By doing so, the designer guarantees that his/her design will work even in the most pessimistic situations. In [78], a tool for the automated variation-aware sizing of analog integrated circuits is presented. This tool allows nominal, environmental and process corner simulation in order to estimate the variability of the circuit. Furthermore, the tool uses response surface models in order to speed up the optimization. In [79], a method to calculate the trade-off between the yield and a figure of merit is presented. A quasi-Monte-carlo sampling is performed in order to calculate the yield in a more efficient way. In [80], a technique based on artificial intelligence is used in order to speed up the yield optimization. However, this solution is implemented using single-objective algorithms rather than multi-objective. In [81], an efficient yield optimization technique for multi-objective optimizationbased automatic analog integrated circuit sizing is presented. The proposed yield estimation technique reduces the number of required Monte-carlo simulations by using the k-means clustering algorithm, with a variable number of clusters, to select only a handful of potential solutions where the Monte-carlo simulations are performed.

There is an efficiency/over-design trade-off between the available methodologies to consider the process variations. While considering performance corners is an efficient solution, performing Montecarlo simulations is a more time consuming option. The trade-off appears because if the designer considers the performance corners, he/she may be over-designing the circuit. It should also be taken into account that by using corners the mismatch between devices is also not considered.

1.3.5. Circuit Complexity

In the previous Sections, the needs for an automated and efficient RF circuit design methodology were presented. However, it is important to discuss the circuit complexity that the methodology is able to cope with.

In the past, most efforts directed to system-level³ design were focused in the direction of highlevel system specification tools, RF budget analyzers and architecture comparison tools [33, 82–84]. These high-level tools are very handy in top-down design methodologies because they are used in order to estimate lower-level circuit performance in order to fulfill the complete system specifications. After specifying the needed performances for each circuit, and, following a top-down approach, the

³In this thesis we denote by *system* any set of two different circuits that are connected

designer starts from the higher level until reaching the lowest possible level (e.g., synthesizing the passive components). However, while going down the hierarchy, the designer may realize it may be difficult or even impossible to synthesize the needed performances for some circuit/passive, which ultimately will lead to unwanted re-design cycles. Also, these high-level tools do not consider all circuit nonlinearities and therefore it may be difficult to guarantee that the specifications given by the tool will be met at transistor-level, which again, can lead to re-design cycles. Eventually, since the high-level specifications do not entirely match the transistor specifications, the designer can choose to over-design the RF system in order to reduce the re-design cycles. However, this would ultimately lead to sub-optimal designs (e.g., circuits with higher power consumption). In [85], S. Rodriguez et al, created a tool that was able to automatically size each circuit of an RF system based on system specifications. In this work the entire system is optimized at once with no top-down or bottom-up hierarchy. By using an optimization engine, each component of each circuit composing the system would be automatically sized. However, the tool presents some drawbacks: the circuit performances are estimated using analytical equations during the optimization stage and ideal models are used for the passive components. By using analytical equations, the optimization is very efficient, however the circuit performances may change significantly from an actual electrical simulation. Hence, it is reported in the paper that a fine-tuning operation must be performed in order to meet the desired specifications after the optimization. One of these fine-tuning operations is portrayed, where some components had to be changed in more than 50% from its initial value. In [86], Z. Pan et al, build performance models for each circuit of an RF front-end receiver and a VerilogA description of these circuits is constructed in order to simulate the circuit performances. While for complex systems, such as, e.g., an RF transceiver, full system simulation is not practical to perform in an electrical simulator, for smaller systems such as a receiver, this simulation is still manageable. Therefore, electrical simulators should be preferred instead of performance models, in order to achieve superior accuracies. Thus, in [86], the system design is efficient but when the design is actually simulated at transistor-level, the performances are expected to change due to the usage of approximated performance models.

Optimizing the system entirely as in [85] is an inefficient solution because RF systems may be highly complex with a huge set of design variables and specifications, which can degrade the convergency of the optimization algorithm. On the other hand, using analytical equations and performance models as in [86], will inevitably lead to inaccurate designs. Therefore, it can be concluded that automating the design of an RF system and accurately estimate its performances is not a straightforward task. The scenery gets even more clear, because from the several works that use transistor-level simulations together with optimization-based methodologies for the automated design of RF circuits (e.g., [29, 30, 35, 40, 48, 49, 65, 87–89]) only M. Chu in [89] connected an LNA and a mixer. This fact is due to the high amount of design variables, circuit/system specifications and the difficulties to efficiently calculate the system performances.

1.4. Innovative Contributions

After pointing out the needs for an accurate and efficient RF automated circuit design methodology in the previous Section, a list of the innovative contributions proposed in this thesis is given here. The objective of these contributions is to help solving some of the issues previously described.

- **Development of a state-of-the-art surrogate model for integrated inductors.** In this thesis, in order to accurately model integrated inductors, a surrogate model was developed that has less than 1% error when compared to EM simulations, while reducing the simulation time by three orders of magnitude. Several different models were created for different inductor topologies, all of them achieving negligible errors when compared to EM simulations.
- Integrated inductor synthesis using different strategies and optimization algorithms. Due to the accurate and efficient surrogate model developed, its usage in optimization methodologies is very practical. Several different inductor synthesis strategies were applied and compared. Furthermore, a state-of-the-art tool, SIDe-O, was created. SIDe-O is a computer-aided design tool developed for the design and optimization of integrated inductors based on surrogate modeling techniques and the usage of evolutionary optimization algorithms. Furthermore, the tool allows the creation of S-parameter files that accurately describe the behavior of inductors for a given range of frequencies, which can later be used in SPICE-like simulators for circuit design in commercial environments. The surrogate models developed, and integrated in the tool, provide a solution to the problem of accurately and efficiently modeling and optimizing inductors, which alleviates the bottleneck that these devices represent in the RF circuit design process
- RF bottom-up circuit design methodology using efficient strategies. In this thesis, bottom-up design methodologies are applied to the design of RF circuits, starting at the lowest possible level: passive component level. The methodology uses the developed SIDe-O tool in order to generate inductor POFs, which can later be used in circuit simulations. Furthermore, several different simulation strategies are used in order to reduce the circuit simulation time. By using such strategies some of the most expensive RF performances (e.g., third-order intercept point) can be efficiently calculated and considered during the automated design of RF circuits.
- Development of a specific RF layout-aware methodology. A layout-aware methodology was developed especially for the design of RF circuits. The methodology uses a multi-objective optimization algorithm and a bottom-up design methodology. An automatic layout generation is carried in-the-loop for each tentative sizing solution using a state-of-the-art MG, template-based placer and router, which were specifically developed for RF circuits. The proposed approach exploits the full capabilities of most established computer-aided design tools for RF design available nowadays, such as the RF circuit simulator as performance evaluator and commercial

layout parasitic extractor to determine the complete circuit layout parasitics. Furthermore, the inductor parasitics are considered using the previously developed surrogate model.

- Taking into account process variability in automated design methodologies. The methodology developed, allows the user to consider the corner extreme performances during not only the sizing optimization, but also during the layout-aware optimization, increasing therefore the design robustness.
- Multilevel RF bottom-up circuit design with transistor-level accuracy. Also, in this thesis an automatic multilevel bottom-up strategy is developed. By using such multilevel bottom-up strategy different circuits can be connected in order to build an RF system. Furthermore, each level of the hierarchy is simulated with the upmost accuracy possible: EM accuracy at passive level, and electrical simulations at circuit/system level. Moreover, the methodology encourages the hierarchical POF reuse. The methodology presented in the thesis is the first to present such multilevel bottom-up optimizations, and therefore being able to design RF systems.

1.4.1. Thesis Organization

In order to show the innovative contributions in practice, the methodology developed in the thesis will be applied to the design of different RF circuits with the final objective of designing an RF front-end receiver. The thesis will be centered around three typical RF circuits: the low noise amplifier (LNA), the voltage controlled oscillator (VCO) and the mixer.

Since the final objective of this thesis it to design an RF front-end receiver, it is important that the traditional receiver architectures are briefly reviewed. Therefore, this is performed in Chapter 2. Furthermore, in the same Chapter the three main blocks that constitute the RF front-end (LNA, VCO and mixer) are also described, as well as its most important performance parameters.

In chapter 3, the new modeling strategy for the accurate design of integrated inductors is presented. Afterwards, the model is used in order to synthesize integrated inductors using several different strategies. Furthermore, the developed models were integrated into a novel tool that is able to assist designers into modeling and optimization of inductors [Journal 1 and 2 of Section 1.5.1 and Conf. 1 to 4 of Section 1.5.2].

In Chapter 4, the advantages of using an accurate inductor modeling in optimization-based strategies are presented for the specific case of an LNA design [Journal 3 of Section 1.5.1]. Also, in Chapter 4, the bottom-up methodologies are used to design the LNA and two different strategies to design passive components in optimization-based methodologies are compared against over an extensive statistical study, also considering an LNA case study [Journal 4 of Section 1.5.1]. Furthermore, in the same Chapter, a VCO is designed using a corner-aware bottom-up design

methodology, and the importance of considering this extreme device performances in a first design stage is illustrated [Journal 5 of Section 1.5.1]. The synthesis of a Gilbert cell mixer is also performed in Chapter 4, in order to present all the circuits necessary to design the RF front-end receiver.

Chapter 5 presents a methodology where a layout-aware optimization is described and used for the design of a VCO and a LNA [Journal 6 of Section 1.5.1 and Conf. 6 and 7 of Section 1.5.2]. Also, in Chapter 5, the previously presented layout-aware methodology is further elaborated in order to take into account device process variability to develop a layout-corner-aware optimization. This methodology is then used to design a VCO as case study.

Chapter 6 presents the bottom-up automated design of a complete RF front-end with transistor-level accuracy. Furthermore, a comparison is performed between three different optimization strategies applied to a system level [Journal 7 of Section 1.5.1].

In the end, Chapter 7 draws conclusions and present some future work ideas.

1.5. Publications and Achievements

1.5.1. Journals

- F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F.V. Fernández, "Radio-frequency inductor synthesis using evolutionary computation and Gaussian-process surrogate modeling", Applied Soft Computing, Volume 60, 2017, Pages 495-507, ISSN 1568-4946, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2017.07.036.
- F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F.V. Fernández, "An inductor modeling and optimization toolbox for RF circuit design", in Integration, the VLSI Journal, Available online, 27 January 2017, ISSN 0167-9260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vlsi.2017.01.009.
- F. Passos, R. González-Echevarría, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F.V. Fernández, "A two-step surrogate modeling strategy for single-objective and multi-objective optimization of radiofrequency circuits", in Soft Computing, currently in second round of review process.
- F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F.V. Fernández, "Automated RF circuit design methodologies: online vs. offline passive component design", in IEEE Transactions on VLSI, currently in review process.
- F. Passos, R. Martins, N. Lourenço, R. Póvoa, A. Canelas, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F. V. Fernández, N. Horta, "Enhanced Systematic Design of a Voltage Controlled Oscillator using a Two-Step Optimization Methodology", in Integration, the VLSI Journal, currently in second round of review process.

- 6. R. Martins, N. Lourenço, F. Passos, R. Póvoa, A. Canelas, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F. V. Fernández, N. Horta, "Two-Step RF IC Block Synthesis with Pre-optimized inductors and Full Layout Generation In-the-loop", in IEEE Transactions on Computer-aided design of circuits and systems, currently in second round of review process.
- 7. F. Passos, E. Roca, J. Sieiro, R. Fiorelli, R. Castro-López, J. M. López-Villegas, F. V. Fernández, "An Efficient Synthesis Strategy for RF Systems Based on Bottom-up Design Methodologies and Hierarchical Reusability", in IEEE Transactions on Computer-aided design of circuits and systems, currently in review process.

1.5.2. Conferences

- F. Passos et al., "Physical vs. surrogate models of passive RF devices," 2015 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), Lisbon, 2015, pp. 117-120. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.2015.7168584
- F. Passos, R. González-Echevarría, E. Roca, R. Castro-López and F. V. Fernández, "Surrogate modeling and optimization of inductor performances using Kriging functions," 2015 International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), Istanbul, 2015, pp. 1-4. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2015.7301675
- F. Passos, R. González-Echevarría, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, and F. V. Fernández. 2016, "Accurate synthesis of integrated RF passive components using surrogate models", in Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Design, Automation & Test in Europe (DATE '16), pp. 397-402, Dresden, 2016.
- F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López and F. V. Fernández, "SIDe-O: A toolbox for surrogate inductor design and optimization," 2016 13th International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), Lisbon, 2016, pp. 1-4. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2016.7520713
- F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F. V. Fernández, J. Sieiro and J. M. López-Villegas, "A strategy to efficiently include electromagnetic simulations in optimization-based RF circuit design methodologies," 2017 IEEE MTT-S International Conference on Numerical Electromagnetic and Multiphysics Modeling and Optimization for RF, Microwave, and Terahertz Applications (NEMO), Seville, 2017, pp. 64-66. doi: 10.1109/NEMO.2017.7964188
- R. Martins et al., "Layout-aware challenges and a solution for the automatic synthesis of radiofrequency IC blocks," 2017 14th International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), Giardini Naxos, 2017, pp. 1-4. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2017.7981577

7. F. Passos et al., "Systematic design of a voltage controlled oscillator using a layout-aware approach," 2017 14th International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), Giardini Naxos, 2017, pp. 1-4. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2017.7981580

1.5.3. Journals not included in this thesis

 F. Passos, Y. Ye, D. Spina, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, T. Dhaene, F.V. Fernández, "Parametric macromodeling of integrated inductors for RF circuit design", in Microwave and Optical Technology Letters, Vol. 59, issue 5, pp. 1207-1212, May 2017.

1.5.4. Conferences not included in this thesis

- F. Passos et al., "Frequency-dependent parameterized macromodeling of integrated inductors," 2016 13th International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), Lisbon, 2016, pp. 1-4. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2016.7520750
- N. Lourenço et al., "New mapping strategies for pre-optimized inductor sets in bottom-up RF IC sizing optimization," 2017 14th International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), Giardini Naxos, 2017, pp. 1-4. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2017.7981582
- F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López and F. V. Fernández, "An algorithm for a class of real-life multiobjective optimization problems with a sweeping objective," 2017 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), San Sebastian, 2017, pp. 734-740. doi: 10.1109/CEC.2017.7969383

1.5.5. Achievements

- 1. Electronic Design Automation (EDA) competition winner in SMACD 2016
- 2. Nominee for the Best Paper Award in SMACD 2017

2

RF Receiver Architectures

The objective of a communication system is to send information from a transmitter to a receiver. Therefore, the transmitter has to be appropriately designed in order to send signals with adequate power levels, and the receiver has to be able to receive a signal and extract the message. In this thesis we will focus on the receiver part of the communication chain. Therefore, this chapter will present a brief overview of this system, providing the main performances and parameters for each block included.

The goal of any radio receiver is to extract and detect selectively a desired signal from the complete electromagnetic spectrum. The ability to select a given signal in the presence of the huge amount of interfering signals and noise is the fundamental task for radio receivers. Nowadays, radio receivers must often be able to detect signal powers as small as a few nano-watts, while rejecting a multitude of other signals that may be several orders of magnitude larger [90]. Because the electromagnetic spectrum is a limited resource, interfering signals often lie very close to the desired signal, thereby increasing the difficulty of rejecting the unwanted signals. Over the times, several different receiver architectures were proposed, each one with its pros and cons. Since in this thesis the final objective is to achieve the design of an RF front-end, it is important to review the different available receiver architectures. Hence, in Section 2.1 a brief description of some of the most common radio architectures used is performed. Afterwards, in Section 2.2, the blocks that constitute the RF front-end, and that will be designed throughout this thesis are reviewed. Their main purpose to the receiver chain is discussed and their most important performance parameters are examined.

2.1. Receiver Architectures

2.1.1. Superheterodyne Receiver

The superheterodyne receiver architecture was the dominant choice for many decades [91]. Its generic architecture is shown in Fig. 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Typical superheterodyne integrated RF receiver signal chain.

The superheterodyne features a band-selection filter between the antenna and the LNA, which rejects the out-of-band interference. Then, the signal is amplified by an LNA which is then followed by an image-rejection filter. This filter has the purpose of rejecting the unwanted image frequency band (which will be explained later). A mixer then converts the RF signal to a lower-frequency, which is commonly referred to as intermediate frequency (IF). Both the RF signal and a local oscillator (LO) signal (which can be generated by a VCO) enter the mixer, thereby generating the IF signal that appears at the mixers' output. The frequency of this IF signal is equal to the difference between the RF input signal frequency and the LO signal frequency. Therefore, the channel selection is performed by changing the oscillation frequency of the VCO. After the frequency down-conversion operation, a channel filter is implemented in the IF stage to remove any unwanted signals. Next, an automatic gain control (AGC) amplifier provides a significant amount of gain to the IF signal. The amplified IF signal is then demodulated, allowing the information to be processed. This architecture is known for being able to select narrow band signals from an environment full of interferers [92]. Since the channel selection is carried out at IF the dynamic range requirements are relaxed at baseband, which simplifies the design of the ADC [91].

One of the disadvantages of superheterodyne receivers is the image problem [92]. To understand this issue, note that an analog multiplier does not preserve the polarity of the difference between two signals, i.e., for $x_1(t) = A_1 cos(\omega_1 t)$ and $x_2(t) = A_2 cos(\omega_2 t)$, the product of $x_1(t)$ and $x_2(t)$ signals is $cos[(\omega_1 - \omega_2)t]$, which is not different from $cos[(\omega_2 - \omega_1)t]$. Therefore, in the superheterodyne architecture, the bands symmetrically located above and below the LO frequency are down-converted to the same center frequency at IF (see Fig. 2.2). If the band of interest is f_1 , then the image is around $2f_{LO} - f_1$ and vice versa. Due to this problem, the noise present at the image band is also translated into the desired band.

Therefore, the total noise at IF is composed by the noise at the desired RF band, down-converted to IF, plus the noise at the image RF band up-converted to IF and also the noise added by the mixer



Figure 2.2: Illustrating the image problem in superheretodyne receivers.

circuit itself. Therefore, in this type of architecture, high quality factor filtering is usually required in order to meet the specifications of the communication standards. In order to design such high quality factor filters, the image rejection (IR) filter and/or the channel selection IF filter have to be implemented off-chip. Also, different image rejection and channel selection filters have to be used for different standards, making it difficult to achieve a highly integrated low cost solution [83]. Therefore, this receiver is not particularly suited for IC design.

2.1.2. Zero-IF Receiver

A receiver with its IF set to zero is called zero-IF, direct conversion or homodyne receiver. The architecture of this type of receiver is shown in Fig. 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Typical zero-IF integrated RF receiver signal chain.

It can be seen in Fig. 2.3, that a Quadrature-VCO (QVCO) drives two different mixers. The QVCO generates two different signals with opposite phases which then drive two different mixers. It is shown in [92] that the signals at the output of the mixers have the same polarity, containing its

images at opposite polarity [92]. Thus, in the ideal case, the sum of the two output signals is an image-free signal. This is the main advantage of zero-IF receivers. Therefore, this architecture is more suitable for integration than the standard superheterodyne receiver because no IR filter is needed.

However, some disadvantages outcome from the use of this architecture. The main disadvantage of these receivers is the appearance of a DC offset at the mixer output. Since in this architecture the down-converted band is at zero frequency, inappropriate offset voltages can corrupt the signal and saturate the following stages. The causes for the DC offset can be observed in Fig. 2.4. The first cause for DC offset is the so-called LO leakage. This phenomena appears due to capacitive and substrate coupling. The signal from the LO now appears at the input of the LNA and the mixer signal is *mixed* with this signal. This phenomena is sometimes called "self-mixing" [92]. A similar effect occurs if a large signal interferer leaks from the LNA to the LO and is multiplied by itself.



Figure 2.4: Self mixing of the LO signal and a strong interferer.

Another problem of zero-IF architectures is the Flicker noise. Flicker noise (sometimes also referred to as 1/f noise) appears in MOS transistors when these are operating near the zero frequency range. This noise is usually generated when a direct current flows through the MOS transistors. Since in zero-IF receivers we are translating the signal to zero frequency, this noise usually highly affects this type of receivers.

2.1.3. Low-IF Receiver

The low-IF receiver architecture has a block diagram similar to the zero-IF one shown in Fig. 2.3. Low-IF receivers perform frequency down-conversion of the signal to frequencies close to, but higher than zero. This architecture presents a trade-off between the superheterodyne and the zero-IF

receivers. If in one hand, the DC offset and Flicker noise problems of the zero-IF receivers are solved, on the other, hand the image problem is back and this time with the additional difficulty of filtering it at a very low frequency.

There are several other receiver architectures available in literature [91, 93]. Depending on the application, each architecture presents its pros and cons, and the designer must chose it intelligently and carefully. In the next Section, the receiver blocks that constitute the front-end receivers are briefly described, as well as its main performances parameters.

2.2. Front-End Receiver Blocks

The three main blocks of the front-end receiver, which are the common to all receiver architectures are: the LNA, the VCO and the mixer. In this Section these blocks are introduced and their most important performances are described. Nevertheless, there are two main performances that are common not only to these three blocks but to all CMOS circuits in general, which are the power consumption and the area occupation.

Power Consumption

Power is very important in RF circuit design. Nowadays, in an era where all devices aim at portability and at continuous interconnection (e.g., IoT), the battery of a given device is very important. Therefore, power consumption has to be kept at a minimum. It is possible to understand that higher power dissipation limits a circuit because portable electronic devices are limited by battery life. Therefore, power is one of the most important system performance metrics. When we speak about the power consumption of a circuit we are usually interested in the *DC* power consumption given by,

$$P_{DC} = V_{DD} \cdot I_{DC} \tag{2.1}$$

where V_{DD} is the power supply voltage and I_{DC} is the total DC current of the circuit. Therefore, if the designer wishes to minimize the power consumption, he/she can reduce power supply levels or reduce the current level, or if possible, reduce both.

Area Occupation

The area in CMOS integrated circuits is directly associated with cost because larger area reduces the number of dies that can fit into a wafer and therefore leads to a linear increase in processing and material costs. Another significant issue, is the impact of die area on die yield. It has been reported that the yield (the fraction of the fabricated ICs that are fully functional) decreases sharply with die area. As a result, die manufacturing costs quickly become prohibitive beyond some size determined by the process technology, not only by the cost associated with area, but also due to the yield of a given die [94].

2.2.1. Low Noise Amplifier

An LNA is an electronic circuit whose objective is to amplify a very low-power signal without significantly degrading its signal-to-noise (SNR) ratio. The SNR is a measure used to compare the level of a desired signal strength to the level of noise (see Fig. 2.5).



Figure 2.5: Illustrating the SNR.

The LNA symbol is shown in Fig. 2.6. The LNA is usually one of the first components just after the antenna in an integrated wireless receiver chain. The weak signal received at the antenna is fed into the LNA. In order to absorb as much signal power as possible from the antenna, the LNA needs to provide a sufficiently matched input impedance. Being one of the first elements in the receiver chain the LNA is a key block for the noise performance of the whole chip.



Figure 2.6: Low noise amplifier symbol.

The LNA can be considered as a two-port system and, therefore, it is important to establish the concept of Scattering Parameters, or S-Parameters for short. The S-parameters describe the response of an N-port network to incident signals, to any or all of the ports. Consider the two-port network illustrated in Fig. 2.7.

The signal at each of the ports, can be thought of as the superposition of two waves traveling in



Figure 2.7: Two-port network.

opposite directions (e.g., a_1 and b_1). By convention, each port is shown as two nodes in order to give a name and value to these opposite direction waves. The variable a_i represents a wave incident to port *i* and the variable b_j represent a wave reflected from port *j*. The magnitude of the a_i and b_j variables can be thought of as voltage-like variables, normalized using a specified reference impedance (e.g., Z_0). The S-parameters can be defined as,

$$S_{11} = \frac{b_1}{a_1}$$

$$S_{12} = \frac{b_1}{a_2}$$

$$S_{21} = \frac{b_2}{a_1}$$

$$S_{22} = \frac{b_2}{a_2}$$
(2.2)

where S_{11} is the input reflection coefficient, S_{22} the output reflection coefficient, S_{21} the forward transmission coefficient and S_{12} is the reverse forward transmission coefficient. The first number in the S-Parameter subscript refers to the responding port, while the second number refers to the incident port. Hence, S_{21} means the response at port 2 due to a signal at port 1. These S-parameter are important for the understanding of the LNA performance parameters, which are described below.

Gain

The gain is one of the most important performance measures of LNAs. The gain quantifies the ability of a system to increase the amplitude of an input signal and in LNAs it is given by the forward transmission coefficient, S_{21} .

Noise Figure

Noise figure (NF) is a measure of degradation of the signal-to-noise (SNR) ratio in a given circuit. The NF can be defined as,

$$NF = 10 \cdot log_{10}(\frac{SNR_{in}}{SNR_{out}})$$
(2.3)

where *SNR*_{in} and *SNR*_{out} are the signal-to-noise ratio measured at the input and output of the circuit, respectively.

Linearity

The basic idea for the calculation of non-linear effects is that the behavior of a circuit can be approximated by a non-linear equation:

$$y(t) = a_1 \cdot x(t) + a_2 \cdot x^2(t) + a_3 \cdot x^3(t) + \dots$$
(2.4)

where

- *y*(*t*) is the output signal
- *x*(*t*) is the input signal

a₁ > 0
 a₂ > 0

• $a_3 < 0$.

If the circuit is considered ideally balanced, then the even order components are set to zero e.g., $a_2 = 0$ for convenience. When the input signal is a single-tone $x(t) = A \cdot cos(\omega_0 t)$, the generated output signal y(t) consists of different frequency components:

$$y(t) = \frac{1}{2}a_2A^2 \quad // \quad \text{corresponds to } dc \text{ component} \\ + (a_1A + \frac{3}{4}a_3A^3)cos(\omega_0 t) \quad // \quad \text{corresponds to } \omega_0 \text{ component} \\ + \frac{1}{2}a_2A^2cos(2\omega_0 t) \quad // \quad \text{corresponds to } 2\omega_0 \text{ component} \\ + \frac{1}{4}a_3A^3cos(3\omega_0 t) \quad // \quad \text{corresponds to } 3\omega_0 \text{ component} \\ + \dots$$

$$(2.5)$$

Besides the emerging spectral components, it is worth noting that the linear amplification of the output fundamental is no longer a_1 but $(a_1 + \frac{3}{4}a_3A^2)$. This means that the third-order non-linearity reduces the voltage gain of the fundamental sine wave. The phenomenon is well known in literature and commonly characterized by the 1 *dB* compression point (CP_1) [92]. The CP_1 is defined as the power (or voltage) level for which the amplification of the fundamental frequency is attenuated by 1 *dB* compared to its ideal linear amplification a_1 . From (2.5) it can be shown that for

$$A_{1dB} = \sqrt{0.145|a_1/a_3|} \tag{2.6}$$

the input referred 1 dB compression point (CP_{1i}) is reached.

Let us assume an input signal consisting of two fundamental tones $\omega = \omega_1$ and $\omega = \omega_2$ with different amplitudes A_1 and A_2 :

$$x(t) = A_1 \cdot \cos(\omega_1 t) + A_2 \cdot \cos(\omega_2 t)$$
(2.7)

The output signal y(t) results in

$$y(t) = \frac{a_2}{2}(A_1^2 + A_2^2) // \text{ corresponds to } dc \text{ component}$$

$$+ (a_1 + a_3(\frac{3}{4}A_1^2 + \frac{3}{2}A_2^2))A_1cos(\omega_1 t) // \text{ corresponds to } \omega_1 \text{ component}$$

$$+ (a_1 + a_3(\frac{3}{4}A_2^2 + \frac{3}{2}A_1^2))A_2cos(\omega_2 t) // \text{ corresponds to } \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{a_2}{2}A_1^2cos(2\omega_1 t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{a_2}{2}A_2^2cos(2\omega_2 t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ a_2A_1A_2cos((\omega_1 + \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } \omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{a_3}{4}A_1^3cos(3\omega_1 t) // \text{ corresponds to } 3\omega_1 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{a_3}{4}A_1^3cos(3\omega_2 t) // \text{ corresponds to } 3\omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{a_3}{4}a_3A_1^2A_2cos((2\omega_1 + \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 + \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 + \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 + \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_1 - \omega_2 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_2 - \omega_1)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_2 - \omega_1 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \frac{3}{4}a_3A_1A_2^2cos((2\omega_2 - \omega_1)t) // \text{ corresponds to } 2\omega_2 - \omega_1 \text{ component}$$

$$+ \dots$$

First, let us assume that the input signals significantly differ in amplitude, i.e., $A_2 \gg A_1$. From (2.8) we see that the gain for the fundamental tone ω_2 will be reduced (desensitization) or may even drop to zero (blocking) [92]. If we assume that the second tone in (2.5) is modulated in amplitude by a sinusoid with $\omega = \omega_M$ e.g., $A_2(1 + m\cos(\omega_M t))$, where m < 1 is the modulation index and $A_2 \gg A_1$, (2.8) changes into,

$$y(t) = [a_1 + \frac{2}{3}a_3A_2^2(1 + \frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{m^2}{2}cos(2\omega_M t) + 2mcos(\omega_M t))]A_1cos(\omega_1 t) + \dots$$
(2.9)

The gain for the signal at $\omega = \omega_1$ now contains amplitude modulation with $\omega = \omega_M$ and $\omega = 2\omega_M$. This phenomenon is called cross modulation [92]. Another interesting scenario is the presence of spectral components at $\omega = 2\omega_1 - \omega_2$ or $\omega = 2\omega_2 - \omega_1$ in the output signal y(t) in (2.8). In Fig. 2.8, it is possible to observe two interferers at $\omega = \omega_1$ and $\omega = \omega_2$, which are located close to the wanted channel. The third-order intermodulation product at $\omega = 2\omega_2 - \omega_1$ falls into the wanted channel.

Assume two strong interferers with amplitudes A_1 and A_2 with a frequency spacing $\Delta \omega = \omega_2 - \omega_1$ so that the third-order intermodulation product occurring at $\omega = 2\omega_2 - \omega_1$ falls into a wanted frequency channel. If the wanted signal is too weak, the intermodulation product may dominate the spectra of the channel. Due to its position on the frequency axis, the intermodulation product cannot be filtered out. Literature commonly describes the effects of third-order intermodulation in terms of the thirdorder intercept point (*IIP*₃) (see Fig. 2.9). From (2.8) we see that the spectral power of the third-order



Figure 2.8: Illustrating the third-order intermodulation product at $\omega = 2\omega_2 - \omega_1$, which falls into the wanted channel [92].

products grows with the power of three while the fundamental components grow linearly. If we plot the output power P_{OUT} for the fundamental component and the third-order component versus the input power P_{IN} of the fundamental input tone of a non-linear circuit in logarithmic scale, it is possible to observe that the slope of the fundamental output tone is one while the slope of the third-order component is three (for small input powers far from the power levels where the circuit is already in compression). The parameter IIP_3 is commonly defined as the intersection of both lines.



Figure 2.9: Graphical interpretation of the IIP_3 in double logarithmic scaling. The intermodulation product is growing with the power of three while the fundamental signal is growing linearly [92].

Input and Output Matching

The input and output matching are given by S_{11} (input matching), and S_{22} (output matching). When a circuit is connected to another, usually the input and output impedance do not entirely match. This means that part of the signal is not passed between circuits and is reflected back, loosing efficiency in the process. This is especially important for the LNA, since its input is connected to the antenna. The antenna usually has a characteristic impedance of 50Ω and since the LNA is intended to capture a weak signal, the receiver can not afford to lose even more power, so the LNA must be carefully design to match the antenna impedance.

However, while it is absolutely necessary to take care of input impedance matching for the LNA, where the incident and reflected power in the circuit really exists, in some specific cases of IC design, the designer does not need to have perfectly matched circuits since in an IC circuit the size of the die is so small that the incident and reflective power or voltage waves are redundant or meaningless [95].

Stability

When discussing amplifiers, stability refers to an amplifiers' immunity to oscillation. Stability can be conditional or unconditional. Conditional stability means that the design is stable at certain input/output impedances, however, there is a region, of either source or load impedances, that can cause the circuit to oscillate. Unconditional stability refers to a network that can "see" any possible impedance and the design will not oscillate.

In order to evaluate the LNA stability, the Rollet's stability factor, *K*, can be used. This can be calculated from the S-parameters of the LNA as follows:

$$K = \frac{1 - |S_{11}|^2 - |S_{22}|^2 + |S_{11}S_{22} - S_{12}S_{21}|^2}{2|S_{12}||S_{21}|}$$
(2.10)

Port-to-Port isolation

The port-to-port isolation is a measure of how well the input and output of the LNA is separated in terms of unwanted signal coupling. For the LNA this performance is given by S_{12} , the reverse forward transmission coefficient.

2.2.2. Voltage Controlled Oscillator

The VCO is a circuit whose oscillation frequency is controlled by an input voltage, referred to as tuning voltage. By changing this voltage, the oscillation frequency shifts, therefore, the VCO is used in receivers in order to e.g., tune into a communication channel. The VCO is usually illustrated with the symbol shown in Fig. 2.10



Figure 2.10: Voltage controlled oscillator symbol.

The most important performance parameters in VCO designs are given below.

Oscillation frequency

It is easy to understand that when discussing VCOs one of the most important parameters is the oscillation frequency, f_{osc} , which is the signal frequency generated at the output of the VCO.

Phase Noise

The phase noise, *PN*, is one of the main metrics of an oscillator in RF applications. In Fig. 2.11a it is possible to observe an ideal oscillator output in the frequency domain versus a real oscillator output. In the real situation, the signal spectrum shows symmetrical tails decreasing as $1/\omega_m^2$, where ω_m is the (angular) frequency offset from ω_0 , which are referred to as the oscillator phase noise. This $1/\omega_m^2$ dependence, suggests that a sort of white noise is appearing in the circuit which affects the signal integrity [96]. Fig. 2.11b, illustrates what happens when a VCO is used in a receiver for down-conversion, first in an ideal case where the LO signal does not have phase noise, and then, in a real case where the LO signal has phase noise. It can be seen in the latter, that the down-converted signals have overlapping spectra with the wanted signal, after the down-conversion operation, suffering from significant noise contribution due to the tail of the interferer.



Figure 2.11: (a) Illustrating the meaning of phase noise and (b) Phase noise problem in down-conversion receivers.

Output Swing

The output swing is the value of the amplitude of the signal generated by the oscillator. It can be measured in Volts, which is then called voltage output swing, V_{OUT} , or in dBm, which is called power output swing, P_{OUT} . This value is especially important when the oscillator polarizes a mixer (e.g., receiver). Usually, the VCO will polarize the gate of a MOS transistor of the mixer. Therefore, this value should be as high as possible because it will make the switching operation of the MOS transistors of the mixer faster and, therefore, it will decrease the noise introduced in the circuit.

2.2.3. Mixer

The mixer is a circuit which receives two different input signals (the RF and LO signals) at two different frequencies and outputs a signal at a different frequency (the so-called IF signal). This output frequency is the difference between the input frequencies, therefore, the designer can translate any input frequency to any IF frequency by tuning the LO signal. The mixer symbol is shown in Fig. 2.12.



Figure 2.12: Mixer symbol.

The most important performance parameters for the mixer are the following.

Conversion gain

As for the LNAs, the gain quantifies the ability of the mixer to increase the amplitude of the input signal. However, for the mixers the gain is referred to as conversion gain *CG* because the input and output signal are not at the same frequency.

Linearity

The linearity is also an important metric for the mixer. Since it was already introduced for the LNA, no additional discussion is required here.

Port-to-Port isolation

Similarly to the LNA, the mixer port-to-port isolation is a measure of how well the mixer ports are separated from each other in terms of unwanted signal coupling. This is very important because the LO-RF feedthrough results in LO leakage to the LNA, whereas RF-LO feedthrough allows strong interferer in the RF path to interact with the LO and driving the mixer. The LO-IF feedthrough is also

very important because if a relatively high feedthrough exists from the LO port to the IF the following stage could be desensitized. Desensitization is a phenomena that may happen in receivers, where a strong interferer is present at the output of the receiver and, therefore, the receiver cannot identify the wanted signal [92]. The required isolation levels depend on the environment, but typically, an isolation of 30dB is in most cases considered 'high isolation' [92].

Noise Figure

The mixer noise figure analysis deserves special attention. As previously mentioned, all mixers fold the RF spectrum around the LO frequency, creating an output that contains the summation of the spectrum on both sides. In low-IF architectures, one of these contributions is typically considered spurious and the other intended. Therefore, image reject filtering is used to largely remove one of these responses. On the other hand, in zero-IF receivers, the case is different, because both sidebands are converted and used for the wanted signal. Due to this fact, different noise definitions arise: the single-sideband (SSB) noise and the double-sideband (DSB) noise figure.

The single-sideband noise figure (NF_{SSB}), assumes that the noise from both sidebands is folded into the output signal. However, since only one of the sidebands is useful for conveying the wanted signal, the other is filtered. Therefore, the noise level is doubled, without doubling the signal level, which naturally results in a 3dB increase in noise figure (see Fig. 2.13).

The single-sideband (SSB) noise figure, which characterizes a low-IF receiver, is given by,

$$NF_{SSB} = 10\log_{10}(\frac{S_{RF}/N_{RF+IM}}{(S/N)_{IF}})$$
(2.11)

where

- S_{RF} is the signal power at the RF frequency
- N_{RF+IM} is the noise power contributions from the RF and the image (IM) frequency
- $(S/N)_{IF}$ is the signal-to-noise ratio at the intermediate frequency (IF).

On the other hand, the double-sideband noise figure (NF_{DSB}) assumes that both responses of the mixer contain parts of the wanted signal and, therefore, the noise is folded alongside with the corresponding signal. Therefore, the total NF is not impacted (see Fig. 2.14), because the signal is also translated. The double-sideband (DSB) noise figure characterizes a zero-IF receiver, and is given by,

$$NF_{DSB} = 10\log_{10}(\frac{S_{RF+IM}/N_{RF+IM}}{(S/N)_{IF}})$$
(2.12)

where

• S_{RF+IM} is the signal power contribution at the RF and the IM frequency.



Figure 2.13: Illustrating the NF_{SSB} in mixers.



Figure 2.14: Illustrating the *NF_{DSB}* in mixers.

3

Modeling and Synthesis of Radio-Frequency Integrated Inductors

This Chapter discusses the modeling and synthesis of integrated inductors. In Section 3.1, typical inductor topologies are shown, as well as its geometric and performance parameters. Furthermore, the inductor typical behavior over frequency is illustrated in order to give some design insights for this passive component. It is important to know the geometric and performance parameters of this device in order to understand how can the device be modeled and designed. Afterwards, in Section 3.2, two different inductor models are presented: a physical model, which relates analytical equations to a set of electrical components, which are able to emulate the behavior of the inductor, and, a surrogate model, based on machine learning techniques, which is able to capture the behavior of the inductor by learning from a set of *training* samples, and, afterwards, estimate its performances. Furthermore, in the same Section, an accuracy comparison is performed between such physical and surrogate models. In Section 3.3 different optimization algorithms, both single- and multi-objective are used in order to synthesize integrated inductors. Some comparisons will be performed in order to find out which are the best optimization strategies to synthesize inductors in terms of accuracy and efficiency. Finally, Section 3.4 presentes a tool that was developed incorporating the surrogate models presented in 3.2 and that has the ability to design and optimize several inductor topologies using single- and multi-objective optimization algorithms. Furthermore, the tool also allows the user to build new inductor models, for new inductor topologies and technologies.

3.1. Integrated Inductor Design Insights

Inductors in RF integrated circuits are typically built by using two metal layers, with an intermediate dielectric layer. In Fig. 3.1, the shapes of an octagonal asymmetric and symmetric spiral inductors are illustrated. The geometry of these inductors is usually defined by four geometric parameters: number of turns (N), inner diameter (D_{in}) (or alternatively the outer diameter (D_{out})), turn width (w) and spacing between turns (s).



Figure 3.1: Different inductor topologies.

The most relevant inductor performances are the equivalent inductance, L_{eq} , and the quality factor, Q_{eq} . These performance parameters can can be easily obtained from the S-Parameters of the two-port structure representation of the inductor. For the asymmetric topology, the inductor is measured in single ended mode (SEM), and, therefore, the following formulas can be used in order to calculate L_{eq} , and Q_{eq} [97],

$$S_{SEM} = S_{11} - \frac{S_{12} \cdot S_{21}}{1 + S_{22}}$$

$$Z_{eq} = Z_0 \cdot \frac{1 + S_{SEM}}{1 - S_{SEM}}$$
(3.1)

where Z_{eq} is the equivalent input impedance and Z_0 the characteristic impedance of the device (usually 50 Ω). For the symmetric topology, the inductor is measured in differential mode (DM) and, the following formulas can be used [97],

$$S_{DM} = \frac{S_{11} - S_{12} - S_{21} + S_{22}}{2}$$

$$Z_{eq} = 2 \cdot Z_0 \cdot \frac{1 + S_{DM}}{1 - S_{DM}}$$
(3.2)

After obtaining the equivalent input impedance, Z_{eq} , (either for the asymmetric or symmetric inductor), L_{eq} , and the quality factor, Q_{eq} , are calculated as follows,

$$L_{eq}(f) = \frac{Im[Z_{eq}(f)]}{2\pi f}$$
(3.3)

$$Q_{eq}(f) = \frac{Im[Z_{eq}(f)]}{Re[Z_{eq}(f)]}$$
(3.4)

where *f* stands for frequency. In Fig. 3.2, three different plots of the inductance and quality factor as a function of the frequency are illustrated. An important parameter is the self-resonance frequency, *SRF*, which is defined as the frequency at which the imaginary part of Z_{eq} is zero, or, equivalently, the frequency at which the behavior of the inductor changes from inductive to capacitive (see Eq. (3.3)). While designing and inductor, the designer is usually interested in obtaining the inductance at the operation frequency and its quality factor. It is also important to notice that inductors represent a large percentage of the RF circuit area, and therefore, they should be designed with the smallest area occupation since fabrication cost grows linearly with area. The area can be immediately calculated from the geometric parameters and does not need a model for its estimation.



Figure 3.2: Illustrating inductance and quality factor as a function of frequency for three different inductors

After presenting the geometric and performance parameters of integrated inductors, in the following Section, two different techniques will be studied in order to model these passive components and estimate their performance parameters. The basic idea of the modeling techniques is to estimate the inductors performances from its geometric parameters. Both models will be compared in terms of accuracy and efficiency.

3.2. Modeling Methodologies: Physical vs. Surrogate models

In this section, two different modeling techniques for integrated inductors are presented. Both techniques have their advantages and disadvantages, and provide different trade-offs to RF designers. These trade-offs will be analyzed in the following section. For the model error assessment, a statistical study of an octagonal asymmetric spiral inductor topology in a 0.35μ m-CMOS technology is performed using both models and the results are compared.

3.2.1. Physical Modeling of Integrated Inductors

An inductor physical model relates a set of equations to a set of electrical components. Afterwards, this model can be used in an electrical simulator in order to emulate the inductor behavior. Also, the Z_{eq} can be analytically calculated in order to get the inductor performances using Eq. (3.3) and Eq. (3.4). One of the most well-known and widespread used physical models, is the π -model, illustrated in Fig. 3.3 and presented in [50].



Figure 3.3: Typical integrated inductor physical model (π -model)

The lumped-element circuit, shown in Fig. 3.3, tries to model the inductor through the branch consisting of L_s , R_s and C_p . The series resistance, R_s , arises from metal resistivity of the spiral inductor and is closely related to the quality factor, being a key issue for inductor modeling. The series feedforward capacitance, C_p , is considered as the overlap capacitance between the spirals and the underpass metal lines, also called C_l . In order to increase the accuracy of the model, not only the metal spiral but also the *surrounding* environment has to be taken into account. Therefore, both the oxide layer and the silicon substrate have to be modeled. In order to model the oxide layer, a capacitance C_{sub} and a resistance R_{sub} are used. Fig. 3.4 illustrates these lumped elements and its relation to the inductor physical implementation.

Physical π -Model

As previously mentioned, each lumped element of the π -model can be calculated through an analytical equation. These will be presented in this sub-Section.

The resistance R_s , which emulates the series resistance of the inductor, is given by,

$$R_s = \frac{\rho \cdot l}{w \cdot \delta \cdot (1 - e^{-t/\delta})}$$
(3.5)

where l is the conductor length, ρ is the resistivity of the material, w is the metal width and t the metal



Figure 3.4: Physical definition of the lumped-elements of the inductor model.

thickness. The skin depth, δ , is given by the following equation [98],

$$\delta = \sqrt{\frac{\rho}{\pi f \mu}} \tag{3.6}$$

where *f* is the frequency and μ is the permeability of the metal. The oxide capacitance C_{ox} can be approximated by,

$$C_{ox} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot l \cdot w \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{ox}}{t_{ox}}$$
(3.7)

where ε_{ox} is the relative permittivity of the oxide and t_{ox} the oxide thickness.

The silicon substrate is modeled with the resistance R_{sub} and the capacitance C_{sub} . The resistance is used in order to model the resistivity of the substrate, and is given by,

$$R_{sub} = \frac{2}{l \cdot w \cdot G_{sub}} \tag{3.8}$$

where G_{sub} is the conductance per unit area for the silicon substrate and can be approximated by,

$$G_{sub} = \frac{\sigma_{S_i}}{h_{S_i}} \tag{3.9}$$

where σ_{S_i} is the conductivity of the silicon substrate and h_{S_i} is the thickness of the substrate. Moreover, the substrate capacitance C_{sub} is given by,

$$C_{sub} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot l \cdot w \cdot C_{ms} \tag{3.10}$$

where C_{ms} is the unit length capacitance between the metal and the substrate. Finally, the capacitance C_p is calculated through,

$$C_p = n_{cross} \cdot w^2 \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{ox}}{t_{M1-M2}}$$
(3.11)

where t_{M1-M2} is the oxide thickness between the spiral and the underpass metal layer and n_{cross} is the number of crossovers between the spirals and the underpass metal.

The inductance L_s , shown in Fig. 3.3, represents the series inductance and can be calculated through several formulas and techniques [99]. However, one of the most used is the Greenhouse

formula [100], given by the following equation,

$$L = 2l \left\{ ln \left[\frac{2l}{w+t} \right] + 0.50049 + \frac{w+t}{3l} \right\} (nH)$$
(3.12)

where *L* is the series inductance. By using Eqs. (3.5)-(3.12), the designer is able to relate the inductor geometric parameters to the values of the electrical components of the lumped-element circuit given in Fig. 3.3, and, therefore, model, design and simulate a given integrated inductor with any set of geometric parameters.

Physical Segmented Model

However, with the continuing shrinking size of CMOS and with higher operating frequencies, the analytical equations previously presented and the π -model itself, is usually too simple to capture all the inductor physics and, therefore, more accurate models have been proposed. The physical model used in this thesis is based on the segmented model approach [101], where the inductor is divided into segments and each segment is characterized with an individual π -model equivalent circuit, as shown in Fig. 3.5.



Figure 3.5: Square inductor, its physical parameters and the π -model equivalent circuit for each turn of the inductor

In this segmented model, the capacitances are calculated by using a more complex method, which is the distributed capacitance model (DCM) [102]. This method provides more accurate results than the analytical equations used in the simple π -model. This DCM method includes high frequency effects, such as the skin and proximity effects, which, therefore, make the model suitable to be used up to higher frequencies. To calculate the capacitances, we first define the lengths of each inductor segment as l_1 , l_2 ,..., l_n , and the total length as $l_{tot} = l_1 + l_2 + ... + l_n$, where l_n is the length of the last segment of the outer turn. Afterwards, we define,

$$h_k = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{l_k}{l_{tot}}$$
(3.13)

and the capacitances can be calculated with the following formulas [102]:

$$C_p = \sum_{k=1}^n x \cdot \frac{4}{3} C_{mm} l_k \cdot \frac{\left[(h_k - h_{k-1})^2 + (h_{k+1} - h_k)^2 + (h_{k+1} - h_k)(h_k - h_{k-1}) \right]}{(h_{k+1} - h_{k-1})^2}$$
(3.14)

$$C_{ox} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} x \cdot \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{4}{3} C_{ms} l_k \cdot \frac{\left[(1 - h_{k-1})^2 + (1 - h_k)^2 + (1 - h_k)(1 - h_{k-1}) \right]}{3(2 - h_k - h_{k-1})^2}$$
(3.15)

An empirical scale factor x, which is the same for both equations, can be used as a fitting parameter in order to adjust the capacitance values to the adopted technology. The 1/2 factor in C_{ox} is due to the fact that the capacitance is divided into two in the π -model. C_{mm} and C_{ms} are the unit length capacitance between the metal spirals and the unit length capacitance between the metal and the substrate, respectively. Normally, these are extracted from measured data, but they can be approximated as follows [103],

$$C_{mm} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{SiO_2} \cdot t}{s}$$
(3.16)

$$C_{ms} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{SiO_2} \cdot w}{h_{SiO_2}}$$
(3.17)

where ε_0 is the vacuum permittivity and $\varepsilon_{s_i O_2}$ is the relative permittivity of silicon dioxide. $h_{s_i O_2}$ is the distance from the metal to substrate (the silicon dioxide thickness).

The substrate resistance is crucial for accurately modeling of the peak Q and the shape of the Q curve, along with the series resistance R_s . This resistance can be calculated, according to [104], by,

$$R_{sub} = \frac{2}{l \cdot w \cdot G_{sub}} \tag{3.18}$$

where l is the segment length and G_{sub} is the conductance per unit area for the silicon substrate and can be approximated, according to [103], by,

$$G_{sub} = \frac{\sigma_{Si}}{h_{Si}} \tag{3.19}$$

where σ_{Si} is the conductivity of the silicon substrate and h_{Si} is the thickness of the substrate.

The substrate capacitance can normally be approximated using a simple fringing capacitance model as the one given in [104]. However, to extend our model to high frequencies with more accuracy, we use the DCM model technique to calculate the substrate capacitance C_{sub} ,

$$C_{sub} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} x \cdot \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{4}{3} C_{ss} l_k \cdot \frac{\left[(1 - h_{k-1})^2 + (1 - h_k)^2 + (1 - h_k)(1 - h_{k-1}) \right]}{3(2 - h_k - h_{k-1})^2}$$
(3.20)

Again, *x* is the same fitting factor used for previous equations, the 1/2 factor in C_{sub} is due to the fact that the capacitance is divided into two in the π -model and C_{ss} is the length capacitance between the substrate and the ground plane, which can be approximated by the following equation [103]:

$$C_{ss} = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{s_i} \cdot w}{h_{S_i}} \tag{3.21}$$

By using the previous formulas to calculate the values of R_s , C_p , C_{ox} , C_{sub} and R_{sub} (given in Eq. (3.14)-(3.20)) a more reliable inductor model can be developed. Furthermore, the Greenhouse formula, presented in Eq. (3.12), used for L_s , only takes into account the series inductance and not the mutual inductances that appear in integrated inductors, degrading therefore the accuracy of the inductance calculation. Therefore, in order to provide a more accurate inductance calculation, the physical model developed in this thesis uses a set of formulas which describe the individual and mutual inductances of any piecewise structure, therefore being able to calculate the series inductance for any inductor topology.

In 1929, Grover derived formulas for inductance calculation between filaments in several different positions [105]. Greenhouse later applied these formulas to calculate the inductance of a square shaped inductor by dividing the inductor into straight-line segments, as illustrated in Fig. 3.5, and evaluating the inductance by adding up the self inductance of the individual segments and mutual inductance between segments [100]. Some authors call this method the "mutual inductance approach" [106].

Here, the evaluation of the series inductance, L_s , for an octagonal inductor will be given as an example in order to illustrate this mutual inductance approach. Further generalization of the formula for an n-side inductor is also addressed. For hexagonal layouts, the angle between segments is 120 degrees, and for octagonal layouts the angle is 135 degrees and so on. The total inductance of an inductor is given by,

$$L_s = L_0 + M_{p+} - M_{p-} - M_{lm}$$
(3.22)

where L_s is the total series inductance of the inductor, L_0 is the self inductance of each segment, M_{p+} is the mutual inductances of parallel segments, where the current flows in the same direction whereas M_{p-} accounts for mutual inductance of the parallel segments where currents flow in the opposite directions [100]. Furthermore, M_{lm} accounts for all the different types of mutual inductances resulting from non-parallel segments. These mutual inductances should be summed or subtracted depending on the flow of the current.



Figure 3.6: Twenty-five segment octagonal spiral inductor layout.
For the particular case of the inductor in Fig. 3.6 it is possible to calculate the L_s value through,

$$\begin{aligned} L_{s} &= L_{1} + L_{2} + ... + L_{25} \\ & (\text{Self inductance}) \\ &+ 2(M_{1,9} + M_{2,10} + M_{3,11} + M_{4,12} + M_{5,13} + M_{6,14} + ... + M_{17,25}) \\ & (\text{Positive mutual inductances}) \\ &- 2(M_{1,5} + M_{2,6} + M_{3,7} + M_{4,8} + M_{5,9} + M_{10,6} + ... + M_{25,21}) \\ & (\text{Negative mutual inductances}) \\ &- 2(M_{1,2} + M_{2,3} + M_{24,25} + ... + M_{1,3} + M_{3,5} + M_{23,25} + \\ & ... + M_{1,11} + M_{2,12} + ... + M_{16,25}) \\ & (\text{Mutual inductances as shown in Fig. 3.7 - 3.11)} \quad (3.23) \end{aligned}$$

Due to the magnitude and phase of the currents, the mutual inductances are assumed identical in all sections, hence $M_{a,b}=M_{b,a}$. In order to calculate the self-inductance, L_0 , the Greenhouse formula given in Eq. (3.12), may be applied. For the evaluation of the mutual inductances, the formulas deducted by Groover [105] are applied. For the case of two parallel segments, as depicted in Fig. 3.7 (e.g., $M_{1,9}$ in Fig. 3.6), where d is the distance between the parallel with lengths l and m, and r and q represent the difference between the length of the segments. The mutual inductances can be calculated by,



Figure 3.7: Parallel segments.

$$2M = (M_{m+r} + M_{m+q}) - (M_r + M_q)$$
(3.24)

Each $M_{i,i}$ is calculated with the following formula,

$$M = 2 \cdot l \cdot U \tag{3.25}$$

where U, is calculated by,

$$U = ln\left[\frac{l}{d} + \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{l}{d}\right)^2}\right] - \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{d}{l}\right)^2} + \frac{d}{l}$$
(3.26)

where *d* is the distance between segments, which is considered as the geometric mean distance (GMD) between segments and calculated by,

$$ln(GMD) = ln(p) - \frac{w^2}{12p^2} - \frac{w^4}{60p^4} - \frac{w^6}{168p^6} - \frac{w^8}{360p^8} - \frac{w^{10}}{660p^{10}} - \dots$$
(3.27)

where, p is the pitch of the two wires and w is the width of the segments in study. Note that, for the particular case of a square inductor, the series inductance calculation will not comprise the mutual inductance between two consecutive segments, since their mutual inductance is zero (because the angle between them is 90 degrees). However, for the specific case of the octagonal inductor under study, the angle between them is not 90 degrees, and therefore, the mutual inductance must be taken into account. An example for mutual inductance for segments which are connected at one end, such as $M_{4,3}$, is present in Fig. 3.8.



Figure 3.8: Segments which are connected at one end.

This type of mutual inductance is calculated through [105]:

$$M_{lm} = 2cos\varepsilon \left[l_1 tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{m_1}{l_1 + R_1} \right) + m_1 tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{l_1}{m_1 + R_1} \right) \right]$$
(3.28)

In Eq. (3.28), l_1 and m_1 are the lengths of the segments and R_1 is the distance between the segment ends, and can be calculated by,

$$R_1^2 = 2l^2(l - \cos\varepsilon) \tag{3.29}$$

It is also possible to use one of the following relations to substitute either R_1 or ε .

$$\cos\varepsilon = \frac{l^2 + m^2 - R_1^2}{2lm}$$
(3.30)

$$\frac{R_1^2}{l^2} = 1 + \frac{m^2}{l^2} - 2\frac{m}{l}\cos\varepsilon$$
(3.31)

The case of mutual inductance where the intersection point is lying outside the two filaments, for example, $M_{3,5}$, is given in Fig. 3.9, whereas the case where the intersection point lies upon one filament, which is the most complex case, such as $M_{5,14}$, is presented in Fig. 3.10.

The mutual inductances in Fig. 3.9 and Fig. 3.10 are calculated by the following equation,

$$M_{lm} = 2\cos\varphi \left[(M_{\mu+l,\nu+m} + M_{\mu\nu}) - (M_{\mu+l,\nu} - M_{\nu+m,\mu}) \right]$$
(3.32)

The general case for mutual inductances between segments is given in Fig. 3.11, which can be calculated with the following equation.

$$M_{lm} = 2\cos\varepsilon \cdot \left[(\mu+l) \cdot tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{m}{R_1 + R_2} \right) + (\nu+m) \cdot tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{l}{R_1 + R_4} \right) - \mu \cdot tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{m}{R_3 + R_4} \right) - \nu \cdot tanh^{-1} \left(\frac{l}{R_2 + R_3} \right) \right]$$
(3.33)



Figure 3.9: Case for when the intersection point is lying outside the two filaments.



Figure 3.10: Case for when the intersection point lies upon one filament.



Figure 3.11: General case for two segments placed in the same plane.

While the so-called intermediary geometric parameters R_1 to R_4 can be calculated with the following set of formulas,

$$R_1^2 = (\mu + l)^2 + (\nu + m)^2 - 2(\mu + l)(\nu + m)\cos\varepsilon$$
(3.34)

$$R_2^2 = (\mu + l)^2 + \nu^2 - 2\nu(\mu + l)\cos\varepsilon$$
(3.35)

$$R_3^2 = (\mu)^2 + \nu^2 - 2\nu\mu \cos\varepsilon$$
(3.36)

$$R_4^2 = (\mu)^2 + (m+\nu)^2 - 2\mu(\nu+m)\cos\varepsilon$$
(3.37)

The following needed parameters in order to calculate M_{lm} in Eq. (3.33), are given by,

$$2\cos\varepsilon = \frac{\alpha^2}{lm} \tag{3.38}$$

$$\alpha^2 = R_4^2 - R_3^2 + R_2^2 - R_1^2 \tag{3.39}$$

$$\mu = \frac{l \left[2m^2 (R_2^2 - R_3^2 - l^2) + \alpha^2 (R_4^2 - R_3^2 - m^2)\right]}{4l^2 m^2 - \alpha^2}$$
(3.40)

$$\nu = \frac{m \left[2l^2 (R_4^2 - R_3^2 - m^2) + \alpha^2 (R_2^2 - R_3^2 - l^2)\right]}{4l^2 m^2 - \alpha^2}$$
(3.41)

Using Eq. (3.33) and the set of equations presented in (3.34)-(3.41), the inductance of any piecewise structure can be approximated. However it is easy to understand that when one increases the number of segments, the difficulty of calculation increases exponentially due to the number of new mutual inductances that appear [107].

Physical Segmented Model Accuracy Assessment

In order to evaluate the accuracy of this physical model, 240 test inductors were generated covering the design space specified in Table 3.1. The samples were generated following a Latin hypercube sampling (LHS) distribution [108]. These 240 inductors were EM simulated with ADS *Momentum* [109], in order to have a benchmark comparison for accuracy. The technology selected was a 0.35μ m CMOS technology, for which the process information required for EM simulation was available. It should be said, that the space between turns, *s*, was maintained as the minimum size permitted by the technology, because increasing this value does not bring advantages in the inductor performances [55].

The 240 generated inductors were separated by number of turns (30 per turn). The inductors were simulated at two different frequencies with the physical model presented in the previous Sections and

Table 3.1: Inductor variable ranges for the LHS sampling.

Parameter	Minimum	Grid	Maximum
Ν	1	1	8
<i>D_{in}</i> (μm)	10	1	300
<i>w</i> (μm)	5	0.05	25
<i>s</i> (μm)	2.5	-	2.5

the performances obtained were compared with the values obtained through EM simulation. An error assessment was performed using the following equation,

$$Error = \frac{EM_{sim} - Model}{EM_{sim}} \times 100 \quad \text{(in \%)}$$
(3.42)

It is possible to observe in Table 3.2 that the model errors are very high both for inductance (ΔL) and quality factor (ΔQ), and that the error increases for inductor with higher number of turns. This fact can be explained, by two different facts: on the one hand inductors with higher number of turns have more segments, increasing the calculation complexity and, therefore, introducing more errors. On the other hand, inductors with higher number of turns are more difficult to model because its behavior is more abrupt. Therefore it is possible to conclude that this physical model is not sufficiently accurate for modeling integrated inductors.

N	20	MHz	2.5	GHz
	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)
1	18.35	61.20	21.55	31.54
2	10.82	43.96	20.44	34.26
3	13.96	40.53	51.09	46.36
4	13.31	35.41	66.40	69.79
5	10.23	25.07	98.64	127.55
6	10.15	24.36	107.93	141.40
7	12.61	27.95	150.34	229.04
8	12.80	28.72	190.42	511.66

Table 3.2: Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 240 test inductors.

The performances of integrated inductors are highly affected by phenomena such as Eddy currents and proximity effects. Even thought the segmented model, uses the DCM capacitance model, which already takes into account the Eddy currents and proximity effects, the prediction of these effects is not entirely accurate. Therefore, in some areas of the design space where these effects are dominant, e.g., smaller D_{in} and large w, the error of the model is large. Since the model does not accurately estimate the inductor performances in these areas and in order to increase the accuracy, the design space was reduced to inductors with D_{in} >70 μ m and w<15 μ m.

Apart from the design space reduction, several fitting factors (over the analytical equations) were tested in order to reduce the model error. By executing some statistical studies in order to fine tune the physical model, it was found that by setting the fitting factor, x, of $\frac{1}{2}$ to the C_p , C_{ox} and C_{sub} capacitances (in Eq. (3.14), (3.15) and (3.20)), the model errors can be decreased, as it can be seen in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3: Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 106 test inductors: reduced design space and using fitting factors

N	20	MHz	2.5	GHz
	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)
1	3.70	19.62	3.98	5.28
2	1.77	11.75	0.89	3.83
3	1.95	13.26	3.68	9.89
4	2.27	13.28	9.44	11.26
5	2.19	7.62	18.27	15.17
6	2.77	8.77	48.76	87.15
7	3.26	9.64	229.83	354.76
8	3.59	10.49	90.87	146.64

For higher number of turns, the model errors increase at high frequencies (2.5GHz), which may be due to the fact that inductors with higher number of turns have its *SRF* around or lower than 2.5GHz, which means that the inductance and quality factor of inductors is changing very sharply with frequency (see Fig. 3.2). This sharp behavior increases the difficulty of the modeling process, increasing, therefore, the relative error of the model. From the errors shown in Table 3.3, it can be concluded that typical physical models are not suitable for an accurate modeling of integrated inductors, therefore, new techniques must be developed in order to accurately model these components.

3.2.2. Surrogate Modeling of Integrated Inductors

Surrogate modeling is an engineering method used when an outcome of interest of a complex system cannot be easily (or cheaply) measured either by experiments or simulations [108]. An approximate model of the outcome is used instead. This section first describes the basic steps involved in the generation of a surrogate model, and, afterwards, presents the proposed methodology for modeling inductor performances.

Generating a surrogate model usually involves four steps which are briefly described below, indicating the options adopted in this work.

1. Design of experiments:

The objective of surrogate models is to emulate the output response of a given system. Therefore, the model has to learn how the system responds to a given input. So, the first step in generating surrogate models is to select the input samples from which the model is going to learn. These samples should evenly cover the design space, so that it can be accurately modeled. In order to perform this sampling, different techniques are available, from classical Monte-carlo (MC) to quasi-Monte-carlo (QMC) or LHS [108]. In this Chapter, LHS is used.

2. Accurate expensive evaluation:

Surrogate models learn from accurate but expensive evaluations. In our work, these accurate evaluations are EM simulations, which are performed with ADS *Momentum* [109]. Depending on the size of the training set, these simulations could even last for weeks. However, these simulations are only performed once for a given fabrication technology, therefore being useful for several years, as technology nodes do not become obsolete in months. Any modeling technique can later be used in order to build a new model using the same training set.

3. Model construction:

This concerns the core functions used to build a surrogate model. Literature reports approaches based on artificial neural networks (ANN), support vector machines (SVM), parametric macromodels (PM), Gaussian-process or Kriging models, etc [110]. In this thesis, ordinary Kriging models are used. Different Matlab toolboxes like SUMO [111] or DACE [112] support this type of models, being DACE the one finally selected. One of the motivations for using Kriging is that it provides an error estimate. The motivations to select DACE were practical reasons, such as: it is freely available, simple to use and it runs over a widely used software, which is MATLAB [113].

4. Model validation:

Many different techniques may be used in order to validate the model and assess its accuracy e.g. cross-validation, bootstrapping and subsampling [114]. In this Chapter, in order to validate the model, a set of points was generated independently of the training samples. These samples will be referred to as test samples and were also generated using LHS.

Modeling Strategy

Inductance and quality factor are functions of the frequency. There have been attempts to build frequency-dependent models [115, 116] for integrated inductors. However, surrogate models suffer from exponential complexity growth with the number of parameters. This exponential complexity growth is also valid if the number of training samples increases. In order to alleviate this problem, problem-specific knowledge can be exploited. In this thesis, the modeling of inductors is performed in a frequency-independent fashion. Hence, an independent model is created for each frequency point. This allows to increase the accuracy, highly reduce the complexity of the models and also the time to generate them [60].

The initial strategy to build the model was to create a surrogate model valid in the complete design space. The model was created using 800 inductors generated with the LHS technique. Two different models were developed: one for predicting the inductance and another for the quality factor (denoted as L and Q models, for the sake of simplicity). Please recall that, since the models are frequency-independent, L and Q models have to be created for each frequency point. In order to compare the surrogate and the physical modeling techniques, the technology selected was the same 0.35μ m CMOS

technology, and the test samples used were the same used previously. Therefore, these L and Q models were valid for inductors with any given number of turns N, inner diameter D_{in} and turn width w for the ranges shown in Table 3.1. After testing the global surrogate model, against the same 240 inductors previously generated to test the analytical model, it is possible to observe in Table 3.4, that the mean relative error is much lower when compared with the physical model. However, the error is still unacceptably large at higher frequencies.

-	20 MHz		1 0	GHz	2.5 GHz		
	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%) ΔQ (%)		ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	
	0.03 0.28		0.54	0.62	16.64	3.61	

Table 3.4: Average error (in %) of inductance and quality factor for 240 test inductors: global model for all N

By understanding that the number of inductor turns can only take some discrete values, i.e., in the implementation reported in this thesis, it can only take integer values, it becomes clear that by creating several surrogate models, one for each number of turns (e.g. one model for inductors with two turns, another for inductors with three turns, etc.) the model accuracy can be increased, because the complexity of the modeled design space decreases. The generation of separate surrogate models for each number of turns instead of considering the number of turns as an input parameter of the surrogate model brings several benefits: not only is the accuracy significantly enhanced but also the computational cost is significantly decreased as the computational complexity of the training process grows exponentially with the number of samples. The number of models to create is manageable as the number of turns is typically between 1 and 8. This strategy increases the overall accuracy and efficiency of the model, as shown for the average errors of 240 test inductors in Table 3.5. However, some test inductors still present large *L* and *Q* errors, specifically at high frequencies (around 2.5GHz) for inductors with many turns.

Ν	20	MHz	1 0	GHz	2.5 GHz	
	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)
1	0.08	0.46	0.09	0.62	0.08	0.54
2	0.06	0.77	0.14	0.89	0.19	0.78
3	0.03	0.37	0.10	0.52	0.15	0.39
4	0.02	0.32	0.16	0.77	0.24	0.92
5	0.01	0.21	0.07	0.36	0.47	0.61
6	0.01	0.17	0.11	0.50	2.39	1.60
7	0.02	0.34	0.11	0.60	21.70	2.20
8	0.01	0.15	0.11	0.44	6.96	2.36

Table 3.5: Inductance and quality factor average error for 240 test inductors (in %): one model for each N

This high error can be explained by the fact that some inductors from the training set have their *SRF* below or around the 2.5GHz range. Kriging surrogate models assume continuity: if an input variable changes by a small amount, the output varies smoothly. However, in the adopted technology, some

inductors with more than 5 turns, have their SRF close to 2.5GHz, where the inductance does not change smoothly (see Fig. 3.2). Therefore, the use of these inductors during the model construction dramatically decreases the accuracy of the model, because they present a sharp behavior and blur the model creation. Therefore, the accuracy estimation of *L* and *Q* of these useful inductors is dramatically increased if only inductors with SRF sufficiently above the desired operating frequency are used for model training. However, this option is only feasible if we can detect which inductors have their SRFsufficiently above the frequency of operation and are, hence, useful.

Therefore, in the proposed strategy, the construction of the model is based on a two-step method:

- 1. Generate surrogate models for the *SRF* (for each number of turns) using all training inductors.
- 2. In order to generate highly accurate surrogate models for *L* and *Q*, only those inductors from the training set whose SRF is sufficiently above the operating frequency are used. For example, if the operating frequency is 2.5 GHz, only inductors with SRF>3 GHz are used to generate L and Q models. In Fig. 3.2, it is possible to observe that the selected inductors with eight turns are not useful at 2.5 GHz, since their SRF<3GHz.</p>

Consequently, with this methodology, whenever a test inductor is going to be evaluated, its SRF value is predicted first. If the predicted SRF is below 3 GHz, the inductor is discarded since it is not useful for the selected operating frequency. Otherwise, its inductance and quality factor are calculated using the L/Q models. The algorithm for model training is, therefore, as follows:

TRAINING PHASE

Step 1: Sampling:

Generate set *ITS* of *B* inductor training samples for each number of turns using LHS. Generate set *IVS* of B_x validation samples for each number of turns using LHS.

Step 2: Simulation:

Perform EM simulation of the $(B+B_x)$ samples.

Step 3: SRF modeling:

For each number of turns $i = 1, ..., N_{max}$, generate model of self-resonance frequency using set *ITS*.

Step 4: Inductor selection:

Extract from *ITS* the set of training inductors *ITS*^{*} with *SRF* > $f_0 + \Delta f$ where f_0 is the frequency of operation and Δf is a safety margin.

Step 5: L/Q modeling:

For each number of turns, $i = 1, ..., N_{max}$, generate L/Q model at frequencies of interest using set ITS^* .

Step 6: Validation:

Use set *IVS* to validate the accuracy of the generated models.

Model training for a given technology and frequency of operation is performed only once. This model can be used as many times as needed according to the following algorithm:

EVALUATION PHASE

For a set *IES* of *C* inductors to evaluate i = 1, ..., C do:

Step 1: SRF evaluation

Predict the self-resonance frequency of the i - th inductor using the SRF model.

Step 2:

If the predicted self-resonance frequency $SRF_{pre} > f_0 + \Delta f$ go to Step 3. Otherwise, discard i - th inductor as a non-valid inductor for the desired frequency of operation and go to Step 1.

Step 3: L/Q evaluation

Predict L and Q of i - th inductor at frequencies of interest using the L/Q model.

In order to evaluate the validity of the proposed strategy, the 240 test inductors were evaluated for three different frequencies. The model errors for L and Q are shown in Table 3.6 and for the SRF in Table 3.7. It can be concluded that by following this modeling strategy, the model error for inductance and quality factor is always below 1% for L and Q (even at 2.5GHz).

Table 3.6: Inductance and quality factor average error for 240 test inductors (in %): one model for each N filtered by SRF

N	20	MHz	1 (GHz	2.5 GHz	
	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)	ΔL (%)	ΔQ (%)
1	0.08	0.46	0.08	0.62	0.08	0.54
2	0.06	0.77	0.14	0.89	0.19	0.78
3	0.03	0.37	0.10	0.52	0.15	0.39
4	0.02	0.32	0.16	0.76	0.24	0.92
5	0.01	0.20	0.07	0.36	0.43	0.54
6	0.02	0.27	0.11	0.49	0.69	0.45
7	0.02	0.69	0.11	0.59	0.93	0.64
8	0.02	0.29	0.12	0.45	0.50	0.98

Table 3.7: SRF average error for 240 test inductors (in %)

	N=1	N=2	N=3	N=4	N=5	N=6	N=7	N=8
SRF	1.16	1.73	0.83	0.64	0.32	0.38	0.42	0.30

3.3. Integrated Inductor Synthesis Methodologies

In this section, several optimization algorithms are used in order to synthesize integrated inductors. The inductor optimization problem can be posed as a constrained optimization problem as described in Eq. (1.1). The synthesis of integrated inductors can be considered as a single-objective problem or

a multi-objective problem. In this Section, the Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) algorithm [117] is used for single-objective optimization, and the Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm (NSGA-II) is used for multi-objective optimizations [118].

PSO is a single-objective population-based stochastic optimization technique, which was inspired is nature social behavior. The standard flowchart of PSO is shown in Fig. 3.12.



Figure 3.12: PSO flow chart.

The standard PSO algorithm is initialized with a population (called swarm) of candidate solutions (called particles). The particles that constitute a swarm, move around the search space, with a given *velocity* (which is a parameter used to move from a position to another in the search space) looking for the best solution. Each particle has the ability of saving its current position, its historical best position, and the position of the neighboring particles [117]. During each iteration of the algorithm, the entire swarm is evaluated by an objective function (for inductors it could be the physical or surrogate model) to determine its *fitness* (the fitness is the value of the objective under optimization). Afterwards, the individual and global bests are updated. At this point, if the maximum number of iterations is achieved, the algorithm stops, if not, the velocity and position of each particle are updated. Each particle adjusts its traveling speed dynamically by taking into account its inertia, its historical best position and that of its best neighbor. These steps are repeated until some stopping condition is met (in this thesis the stopping condition is always the number of iterations imposed by the user).

The standard PSO algorithm was designed to only deal with unconstrained optimization problems. For inductor synthesis (or any circuit design problem) constraints are a must. Therefore, a tournament selection method [119] has been implemented in PSO to handle design constraints:

1. If two solutions do not comply with constraints, the one with the smallest constraint violation is

selected.

- 2. If one solution complies with constraints (denominated as a feasible point) and another does not (denominated as an infeasible point), the feasible point is selected.
- 3. If two feasible solutions are compared, the one with the best objective function value is selected.

For multi-objective optimizations, in this thesis, NSGA-II is adopted [118], whose flow is illustrated in Fig. 3.13.



Figure 3.13: NSGA-II flow chart.

In the first step an initial population of N individuals is generated. Afterwards, these N individuals are evaluated in order to obtain the values of their objectives and constraints. In the next step (assign ranking and crowding distance, in Fig. 3.13), a classification process is performed in order to establish which are the most promising individuals. This process is denominated as *rank assignation*. In this process, all individuals are classified into fronts as follows: all non-dominated individuals are placed in

front 1 (F_1); individuals dominated by at least one individual of F_1 , are placed in front 2 (F_2); individuals dominated by at least one individual of F_2 , are placed in front 3 (F_3); and so on. While assigning the ranking, if any individual does not comply with constraints, the constraint violation in used to assign the rank. Afterwards, the crowding distance is also calculated. The crowding distance is a measure of how well distributed the solutions are in the performance space. This measure is especially interesting in multi-objective optimizations, because the user is usually looking to have a POF as wide and uniform as possible in order to cover all the performance space with different trade-offs.

After assigning ranks and calculating the crowding distance, all the individuals are taken four by four from the population (so-called parent population), and a tournament selection is performed. This tournament selection consists on a dominance check between pairs of individuals. If the individuals under comparison are both non-dominated, the one with larger crowding distance is selected. The selected individuals are then used to generate new individuals using the crossover operator.

Finally, the mutation operator performs random variations on the individuals. The population obtained after selection, crossover and mutation is denominated child population. This child population has to be evaluated in order to obtain its objectives and constraints, and, after that, it is combined with the previous parent population, in order to form a population with 2N individuals. After that, a survivor selection is performed by assigning the rank and calculating the crowding distance for the individuals, obtaining therefore, a new parent population. These steps are repeated until the number of generations imposed by the user is reached.

The synthesis of integrated inductors reported here, does not exploit any specific characteristics of PSO and NSGA-II, hence, they can be replaced by any other single-objective and multi-objective optimization algorithm, respectively. The basic optimization-based synthesis flow for integrated inductors is illustrated in Fig. 3.14. The synthesis strategies can be classified in four categories according to the kind of performance evaluator and how it interacts with the optimization technique. They will now be discussed in detail, highlighting their advantages and drawbacks.

1. EM simulation as a performance evaluator of an optimization technique (EMO):

The EMO methods embed EM simulations to evaluate objectives and constraints within an optimization algorithm. Therefore, they provide the most accurate performance evaluation and, hence, the best solution quality of all methods. Their major drawback is the high computational cost of the EM simulations. This method constitutes an excellent comparison benchmark for other techniques.

2. Equivalent circuit model as a performance evaluator of an optimization technique (ECO):

The ECO methods rely on a physical/analytical equivalent circuit model to obtain the performances of the passive component. Their main advantage is their high efficiency. However, it has been shown above that these models are usually not accurate enough for a passive component synthesis, showing errors typically much higher than 10%. Hence, when coupled with optimization algorithms, large deviations are observed on the synthesized passive



Figure 3.14: Optimization-based inductor synthesis loop

components when their performances are verified with EM simulation. Therefore, these models can only be used for a first order approximation and not for a full inductor synthesis.

- 3. Offline surrogate model as a performance evaluator of an optimization technique (OFFSO):
 - With the OFFSO methodology, a global surrogate model is created before being used within an optimization algorithm [56]. The surrogate model is first built to be as accurate as possible. Then, the optimization algorithm uses this surrogate model as the performance evaluator to find the optimal solution. The surrogate model is called offline because training data can be generated by EM simulation and the model can be constructed before any optimization objectives and/or constraints are set. Normally, the data set used to build the surrogate model is generated covering the entire design space. When combined with an optimization algorithm, this method has the ability of searching through the entire design space in order to find a global optimum. The generated only once and is valid for any future optimization problem. Moreover, they can be generated offline, much before they are needed for the first inductor optimization problem. On the other hand, since the model can be evaluated very fast, the optimization process itself is highly efficient, usually in the range of few minutes.
- 4. Online surrogate model as a performance evaluator of an optimization technique (ONSO): Since global surrogate models may be locally inaccurate, ONSO methodologies, also known as surrogate-assisted evolutionary algorithms (SAEA), have received considerable attention, also in practical analog/RF circuit design problems [87]. In this methodology, a coarse surrogate model using a few training points is first constructed. Then, this coarse model is coupled with an

optimization algorithm and promising solutions (typically one) are electromagnetically simulated at each iteration of the optimization loop. The data from this EM simulation is used to update the surrogate model to make it more accurate in the region where new simulation points are added, while moving towards the presumed optimal inductor. However, the outputs of the ONSO methodology highly depend on the accuracy of the initial coarse model, which leads to two significant challenges for this methodology. First, the promising solutions found at the different iterations define the search space and the constructed surrogate model is only accurate in that space. Second, the success of ONSO comes from the basic assumption that the optimal point of the coarse and fine models are not far away in the design space. However, again, this assumption only holds when the coarse model is accurate enough. ONSO methods exhibit a delicate trade-off between efficiency and the probability of convergence to the global optimum. Better convergence can be achieved by either increasing the amount of training data of the coarse model, or emphasizing the exploration of potentially good regions of the design space during the optimization process, or a combination of both. In all cases, an increase in the number of EM simulations is implied, diluting in this way the efficiency advantage over EMO methods. A prescreening technique that can be used in ONSO methods in order to increase accuracy, consists in using the uncertainty measurement of the prediction, i.e., the mean square error (MSE), instead of just the predicted value to rank promising solutions. Such techniques include methods like lower confidence bound, probability of improvement or expected improvement (EI). The EI method, which is going to be used later in this Chapter, uses the MSE in order to evaluate areas of the design space that could be optimal considering the model error. Therefore, new promising solutions can be found by taking into account the MSE of the model.

Methods considering prescreening techniques have been widely applied for single-objective optimization [120, 121] and some more recent attempts have tried to extend these approaches to the multi-objective case [63, 122, 123]. Some of these approaches, especially the single-objective ones, have found their path to electronic circuit design application [87].

In the following sections, these approaches are examined and compared for the synthesis of integrated inductors.

3.3.1. Experimental Results: Single-Objective Optimizations

In this section, four different methodologies: EMO, OFFSO, ONSO and ONSO using expected improvement (for the sake of simplicity, further references to this method are denoted as ONSOEI) are applied to the synthesis of integrated inductors. The ECO methodology is not implemented since it was shown in Section 3.2.1 that physical models are not accurate at all, and, therefore, the optimization process yields suboptimal, and even invalid, inductors. The EMO method uses ADS *Momentum* as a performance evaluator and the OFFSO methodology uses the previously developed

surrogate model (using the independent N modeling and the *SRF* filtering strategy). The ONSO and ONSOEI methodologies have some differences when compared to the previous methods. The flow diagram of ONSO/ONSOEI is presented in Fig. 3.15.



Figure 3.15: Flow Diagram of ONSO/ONSOEI

An initial surrogate coarse model is created using 40 (EM-simulated) training inductors. In this implementation of ONSO, the model is updated at each iteration with the EM simulation results of the best individual of the current population. In ONSOEI, the model is updated by simulating the inductor that presents the highest expected improvement from the current population. However, if any of these individuals (either the best one from the current population or that with the highest expected improvement) had already been simulated and used for the model construction in previous iterations, this individual is not EM-simulated and the model does not have to be updated in that iteration. The technology used for inductor synthesis was the same 0.35μ m CMOS technology used for the model comparisons in Section 3.2. The bounds of the optimization search space are the same bounds of the samples used to create the surrogate models, and shown in Table 3.1.

The optimization constraints were defined to guarantee the "good behavior" of the inductor at the frequencies of interest. The inductors have to be designed in such a way that they are in the so-called flat-bandwidth (BW) zone, as shown in Fig. 3.16 [55]. In order for the inductor to be in this zone, the inductance value must be sufficiently flat from DC (L_{DC}) to slightly above the operating frequency ($L_{eq}(f_o + \Delta f)$, where f_o is the operating frequency) and the self-resonance frequency must sufficiently above this frequency. Since in the EMO methodology it is extremely expensive to accurately calculate the SRF of the inductors, the latter constraint is approximated by imposing that the quality factor



Figure 3.16: Flat bandwidth zone.

at the operating frequency $(Q_{eq}(f_o))$ is near its maximum and always with a positive slope around it $((Q_{eq}(f_o + \Delta f) - Q_{eq}(f_o) > 0)$ [55]. In order to constrict the area, a constraint is added so that the inductor fits within a 400 μ mx400 μ m square. Therefore, the optimization constraints are formulated as:

$$area < 400\mu m \times 400\mu m \tag{3.43}$$

$$\left|\frac{L_{at2.5GHz} - L_{at2.55GHz}}{L_{at2.5GHz}}\right| < 0.01 \tag{3.44}$$

$$\left|\frac{L_{at2.5GHz} - L_{at2.45GHz}}{L_{at2.5GHz}}\right| < 0.01 \tag{3.45}$$

$$\left|\frac{L_{at2.5GHz} - L_{at0.1GHz}}{L_{at2.5GHz}}\right| < 0.05 \tag{3.46}$$

$$Q_{at2.55GHz} - Q_{2.5GHz} > 0 \tag{3.47}$$

Eq. (3.46) is used in order to guarantee that the inductor is in the flat-BW zone, by ensuring less than 5% deviation between 0.1GHz and f_o (in this example set at 2.5GHz). Eqs. (3.44) and (3.45) guarantee that the inductance is very flat around f_o .

Furthermore, Eq. (3.47) is used in order to guarantee a positive slope in the quality factor around f_o , which is used to ensure that the *SRF* is still far away. To have a fair comparison with the other methods, and although it was not strictly necessary (because an *SRF* model was developed with the surrogate), the constraint related to the *SRF* location was imposed identically in all methods. The objective of the first test is to find an octagonal inductor with $L_{spec} = 2nH$ at 2.5GHz while maximizing the quality factor. Since PSO is a single-objective algorithm, a weighted objective function was built so that the quality factor was maximized and the difference between the desired inductance and the one obtained by the algorithm was minimized:

$$f(x) = -Q(x) + \lambda |L(x) - L_{spec}|$$
(3.48)

where λ is set to 5. Results for the best inductor obtained by a single execution of each methodology are shown in Table 3.8. The performances of such optimal inductors have been electromagnetically simulated a posteriori, so that the *L* and *Q* values shown at the table can be fairly compared.

Method	Ν	D_{in}	w	Performances		EM	CPU
		(µm)	(µm)	L (nH) Q		sims.	time
EMO	2	225	14.15	1.999	11.086	8000	106.5 h.
ONSO	2	225	14.10	1.999	11.073	45	32 min.
ONSOEI	2	225	14.10	1.999	11.073	55	56 min.
OFFSO	2	225	14.10	1.999 11.073		0	2 min.

Table 3.8: Results of one execution with all methods targeted at L = 2nH and maximizing Q. Area < 400μ mx 400μ m

It must also be considered that the time data in Table 3.8 correspond to CPU time. The computer used for all simulations had two 6-core Intel® Xeon® E5-2630 v2 processors at 2.60GHz, enabling parallelization of the evaluation of different solutions. Such parallelization is very effective for the EMO approach, achieving a reduction of elapsed time by about a 10x factor with respect to the CPU time. A priori, parallelization of the OFFSO approach is not worth given the total CPU times involved. Model updating in ONSO and ONSOEI is performed with at most one inductor at each iteration, and, therefore such parallelization is not directly possible.

Notice that the number of EM simulations, and, therefore, the computation times for the OFFSO, ONSO and ONSOEI methods only include the simulations performed during the execution of the PSO algorithm. Construction of the initial coarse model in ONSO and ONSOEI requires another 40 simulations (5 for each number of turns). This takes another 23.11 hours of CPU time. The CPU time required to simulate the 800 training samples in OFFSO amounts to 462.30 hours (around 19 days). Indeed, as stated above, parallelization of these evaluations in the machine with two 6-core processors reduces the elapsed time by approximately a factor 10x with respect to the CPU time. Since the initial 40 EM simulations for the coarse model in ONSO and ONSOEI and the 800 samples for the OFFSO method can be run a priori and it is a one-time investment (they are independent of the required optimization objectives), they have not been included in the CPU time calculation of the optimization process shown in the table. The table only reflects the CPU time required to get the optimization results once the optimization goals are known. This means that the initial accurate simulations should not be accounted as time to build a given model as they are only performed once and can be used to build several different models using different techniques. To understand the lack of proportionality between the CPU times above and those in the table, two considerations must be made:

 Some simulations for the initial sampling take longer, since simulations of inductors with 8 turns require much more time than e.g. 3 turns, whereas convergence of the different methods in this example implies that most additional EM simulations correspond to inductors with less than 4 turns 2. The EM simulations of the 40 samples of the coarse model in ONSO and ONSOEI and the 800 samples in OFFSO were performed for several hundreds of frequency points so that the results can be used for any synthesis problem independently of the frequencies of interest. If only the few frequency points necessary for this experiment were used, the CPU time is reduced from 23.11 hours to 1.22 hours, and from 462.30 hours to 24.36 hours respectively. However, in that case, new samples and their corresponding EM simulation are needed whenever a new frequency of operation is desired.

As an illustration example, the performances of the inductor obtained with the OFFSO methodology in the first test example (Table 3.8) are presented in Fig. 3.17 and they are compared against the EM simulation of the same inductor. It is possible to observe that the accuracy of the model is remarkably good along all the frequency range. After the optimization process (which takes 2 minutes) the inductor synthesis is complete and the layout of this inductor is presented in Fig. 3.18.



Figure 3.17: Performance parameters of the 2nH inductor obtained in the first test example: inductance and quality factor vs frequency curves



Figure 3.18: Layout of the 2nH inductor obtained in the first test example

The results for another experiment, this time addressing an inductor with 2.5nH and maximum quality factor at 2.5GHz, are shown in Table 3.9.

Method	Ν	D_{in}	w	Performances		EM	CPU
		(µm)	(µm)	L (nH)	L (nH) Q		time
EMO	2	260	10.60	2.504	10.704	8000	111.2 h.
ONSO	3	136	9.50	2.500	10.390	36	34.3 min.
ONSOEI	2	259	10.35	2.499	10.713	59	67.6 min.
OFFSO	2	260	10.80	2.498 10.742		0	2 min.

Table 3.9: Results of one execution with all methods targeted at L = 2.5nH and maximizing Q. Area < 400μ mx 400μ m

As in any other computational intelligence algorithm, PSO also implies the introduction of randomness, and, hence, different runs may provide different results. Therefore, 20 independent runs were performed for each experiment. The mean values and standard deviations obtained with the different techniques are shown in Table 3.10 and Table 3.11.

Table 3.10: Mean values and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at L = 2nH and maximizing Q. Area< 400μ mx 400μ m

Method	Perfor	mances	EM	CPU
	L (nH)	Q	sims.	time
EMO	1.999 (0.000)	11.08 (0.000)	8000 (0.0)	106.5 (0.0) h.
ONSO	1.999 (0.000)	11.073 (0.000)	45 (0.0)	32 (0.0) min.
ONSOEI	1.999 (0.000)	11.073 (0.000)	55 (0.0)	56 (0.0) min.
OFFSO	1.999 (0.000)	11.073 (0.000)	0	2 (0.0) min.

Table 3.11: Mean values and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at L = 2.5 nH and maximizing Q. Area < $400 \mu \text{mx} 400 \mu \text{m}$

Method	Perfor	mances	EM	CPU
	L (nH)	Q	sims.	time
EMO	2.502 (0.001)	10.650 (0.102)	8000 (0.0)	111.2 (0.0) h.
ONSO	2.500 (0.001)	10.390 (0.335)	35.9 (8.0)	34.3 (8.3) min.
ONSOEI	2.499 (0.008)	10.713 (0.265)	62.2 (33.1)	67.6 (36.0) min.
OFFSO	2.498 (0.010)	10.742 (0.144)	0	2 (0.0) min.

From the comparison of these results of the different techniques for single-objective optimization, several conclusions can be drawn:

 OFFSO converges to approximately the same solutions than the reference method EMO in all cases. However, the efficiency is drastically increased, since the CPU time decreases from more than 100 hours to roughly 2 minutes. These test examples demonstrate that the accuracy of the surrogate model used in the OFFSO methodology leads to the same design space areas with much higher efficiency.

3.3. Integrated Inductor Synthesis Methodologies

2. All methods practically converge to the same solutions in the 2nH example but a larger variability between different executions appears for the 2.5nH example in ONSOEI and especially ONSO, yielding a slightly lower quality factor. This seems to indicate that despite the EM simulations used in order to iteratively increase the accuracy of ONSO, the accuracy of the initial coarse model is crucial for an optimal inductor synthesis, i.e. if during the first iterations, where the model is still quite inaccurate, the optimization algorithm leads to design space areas away from the optimal point, it is less likely that the optimization algorithm will converge to the global optimum. Moreover, the computation time rises to tens of minutes due to the additional EM simulations. The use of the expected improvement in ONSOEI improves, in most cases, the ONSO ability to locate the optimal regions of the search space and, therefore, the accuracy of the method is quite good. However, the use of this prescreening method brings a penalty in the form of additional EM simulations that typically rises the optimization time to about one hour.

In the examples shown above, the OFFSO, ONSO and ONSOEI methodologies converge to the same solutions either if the training inductors with *SRF* close or below the frequency of operation are filtered out according to the two-step modeling method described above or not. Inductors with a number of turns $N \leq 3$ are obtained. All training inductors with these numbers of turns have a *SRF* sufficiently above 2.5GHz. Therefore, it becomes natural that the effect of the *SRF* filtering methodology previously proposed is negligible. However, when the specs are such that they are met with inductors with a larger number of turns, they tend to have smaller SRF and the effect of the proposed modeling approach becomes more noticeable. To show this, we will consider the comparison to methods similar to OFFSO, ONSO and ONSOEI, but in which all inductors are used in the training phase of the L/Q model, i.e., no inductor is filtered out if its *SRF* is close or below 2.5GHz. Correspondingly, we will denote these methods as OFFSO_{NF}, ONSO_{NF} and ONSOEI_{NF}.

In a first example, an inductor of 2.9nH with maximum quality factor that fits into a 125μ mx 125μ m square is requested. Identical performance constraints to the previous examples are imposed. The results for one execution are shown in Table 3.12. In this case, OFFSO and OFFSO_{*NF*} arrive at different results. Moreover, when the resulting inductors are EM-simulated, the performance constraints in OFFSO_{*NF*} are not met any more. ONSO, ONSOEI and ONSOEI_{*NF*} arrive at results similar to OFFSO, but ONSO_{*NF*} is unable to converge to a feasible solution (as indicated in the fifth column in Table 3.12). A second example is shown in Table 3.13. In this case an inductance of 4.6nH with maximum quality factor within a 140μ mx 140μ m square is specified. In this case, all methods but EMO and OFFSO are unable to converge to a the larger errors of the surrogate models of inductance and quality factor.

As in the previous experiments, 20 executions of each algorithm were performed for both cases. The statistical analysis of the results is shown in Table 3.14 and Table 3.15. The second column in these tables shows how many of the 20 executions the optimization algorithm found a feasible solution. The statistical analysis of *L* and *Q* has been performed only for the feasible solutions found. It can be

Mathad	N	Din	w	Feasible solutions	isible itions Performances		EM	Constraints	CPU
Method	N	(µm)	(µm)	found?				met after	time
					L (nH)	Q		EM sim?	
EMO ^a	6	36	5.15	yes	2.90	8.45	8000	yes	418.5 h.
ONSO	6	35	5.45	yes	2.89	8.49	9	yes	32.2 min.
ONSO _{NF}	4	70	5	no	-	-	2	-	4.2 min.
ONSOEI	6	35	5.45	yes	2.89	8.49	45	yes	111.2 min.
ONSOEI _{NF}	6	35	5.45	yes	2.89	8.49	45	yes	111.2 min.
OFFSO	6	37	5.3	yes	2.98	8.55	0	yes	2 min.
OFFSO _{NF}	6	40	5	yes	3.11	8.59	0	no	2 min.

Table 3.12: Results of one execution with all methods targeted at L = 2.9nH and maximizing Q. Area < 125μ mx 125μ m

^aThe elapsed time in EMO reduces by a factor 10 with respect to the CPU time when all cores of the twin 6-core processor are used.

Table 3.13: Results of one execution with	II methods targeted at $L = 4.6nH$ and	$1 \text{ maximizing } Q. \text{ Area} < 140 \mu \text{mx} 140 \mu \text{m}$
---	--	--

				Feasible					
Method	М	Din	W	solutions	Performances		EM	Constraints	CPU
	IN	(µm)	(µm)	found?			sims.	met after	time
					L (nH)	Q	-	EM sim?	
EMO ^a	7	40	5.05	yes	4.56	8.616	8000	yes	590.5 h.
ONSO	5	70	5	no	-	-	3	-	6.8 min.
ONSO _{NF}	5	70	5	no	-	-	3	-	7.5 min.
ONSOEI	6	55	5	no	-	-	5	-	12.4 min.
ONSOEI _{NF}	5	70	5	no	-	-	9	-	11.4 min.
OFFSO	7	40	5	yes	4.54	8.520	0	yes	2 min.
OFFSO _{NF}	6	55	5.05	no	-	-	0	-	1.5 min.

^aThe elapsed time in EMO reduces by a factor 10 with respect to the CPU time when all cores of the twin 6-core processor are used.

checked in Table 3.14 that ONSOEI arrives to similar solutions than OFFSO, although with a penalty in the computation time. $ONSO_{NF}$ never arrives at a feasible solution, like in the single execution shown in Table 3.12. It is also found that ONSO and $ONSOEI_{NF}$ only converge to a solution about half of the executions. Table 3.15 shows that only EMO and the proposed OFFSO approach always converge to a solution and they are quite similar, but with orders of magnitude less computational effort in the OFFSO case.

Table 3.14: Mean vaues and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at L = 2.9nH and maximizing Q. Area<125 μ mx125 μ m

Mathad	Feasible	Perforr	mances	EM	Constraints	CPU
Method	solutions	L (nH)	Q	sims.	met after	time
	found?				EM sim?	
EMO ^a	20/20	2.904 (0.000)	8.421 (0.000)	8000 (0.0)	20/20	418.5 (0.0) h.
ONSO	11/20	2.891 (0.000)	8.488 (0.000)	9.33 (6.02)	11/20	32.2 (0.0) min.
ONSO _{NF}	0/20	-	-	2 (0.0)	0/20	4.2 (0.0) min.
ONSOEI	20/20	2.890 (0.002)	8.483 (0.022)	45 (0.0)	20/20	111.2 (0.0) min.
ONSOEI _{NF}	13/20	2.889 (0.004)	8.422 (0.182)	37.1 (15.1)	13/20	95.2 (37.5) min.
OFFSO	20/20	2.986 (0.004)	8.545 (0.018)	0	20/20	2 (0.0) min.
OFFSO _{NF}	20/20	3.110 (0.000)	8.590 (0.000)	0	0/20	1.5 (0.0) min.

^aThe elapsed time in EMO reduces by a factor 10 with respect to the CPU time when all cores of the twin 6-core processor are used.

Table 3.15: Mean values and standard deviations (between brackets) with all methods targeted at L = 4.6nH and maximizing Q. Area<140 μ mx140 μ m

Mothod	Feasible	Perforr	mances	EM	Constraints	CPU
Method	solutions	L (nH)	Q	sims.	met after	time
	found?				EM sim?	
EMO ^a	20/20	4.562 (0.017)	8.564 (0.131)	8000 (0.0)	20/20	590.5 (0.0) h.
ONSO	0/20	-	-	4.15 (2.5)	0/20	9.4 (4.4) min.
ONSO _{NF}	0/20	-	-	3 (0.0)	0/20	7.1 (0.4) min.
ONSOEI	0/20	-	-	5 (0.0)	0/20	12.4 (0.0) min.
ONSOEI _{NF}	0/20	-	-	6.8 (2.0)	0/20	12.0 (0.5) min.
OFFSO	20/20	4.540 (0.007)	8.530 (0.029)	0	20/20	2 (0.0) min.
OFFSO _{NF}	0/20	-	-	0	0/20	1.5 (0.0) min.

^aThe elapsed time in EMO reduces by a factor 10 with respect to the CPU time when all cores of the twin 6-core processor are used.

From the latter experiments, it can be concluded that in many cases the proposed two-step surrogate modeling strategy plays a key role in the proper convergence and accuracy of the surrogate-based optimization techniques for inductor synthesis.

3.3.2. Experimental Results: Multi-Objective Optimizations

One of the advantages of having a fast and accurate surrogate model that needs no EM simulations during the optimization process is the ability of using this model within a multi-objective optimization algorithm. Given the lower maturity of ONSO-like multi-objective optimization techniques and the fact that already for single-objective optimization of inductors, the ONSO and ONSOEI methodologies have not provided better solutions than the OFFSO approach and always with a higher computation time, this section will compare the OFFSO and EMO methodologies with multi-objective optimization algorithms. The effect of the two-step modeling approach will be also studied. The search space is the same used in the previous optimizations and shown in Table 3.1. As a first test example, an optimization with two objectives was performed. The optimization problem had two objectives: inductance and quality factor maximization. Furthermore, the inductors should comply with the constraints described in Eq. (3.43)-(3.47).

This optimization was performed with 300 individuals and 100 generations. The results are presented in Fig. 3.19, where the results of the optimization using the surrogate model have been electromagnetically simulated so that the accuracy can be fairly compared. It is possible to observe that the Pareto fronts obtained by both methods are very similar. The advantage of using OFFSO is the efficiency. While with EMO the optimization lasted 355.55 hours (around 15 days CPU time)¹, the OFFSO method lasted 4 minutes, which is an increase in efficiency of about three orders of magnitude.



Figure 3.19: Pareto-optimal front for a two objective optimization, maximizing quality factor and inductance.

A second test example was an optimization with 3 objectives, this time with 1000 individuals and 80 generations. Since area is of great importance especially in IC technologies, area minimization was added as a third objective in the optimization. A major motivation for selecting a large population size is that the application of inductor fronts to RF circuit design benefit from denser Pareto fronts [35].

¹The elapsed time reduces to 29 hours with respect to the CPU time when all cores of the twin 6-core processor are used.

The results are shown in Fig. 3.20. The results of the surrogate model that are shown in Fig. 3.20 have been electromagnetically simulated a posteriori so that both fronts can be fairly compared.



Figure 3.20: EM simulation of Pareto-optimal fronts for a 3 objective optimization, maximization of quality factor and inductance and minimization of area using EMO and OFFSO methods.

Again, the Pareto fronts achieved by both methods are very similar, and its comparison is very difficult. For single-objective optimization algorithms, comparing two solutions given by two different optimization processes is simple because one just has to compare the fitness function (the objective value). For 2D problems, by drawing two given POFs and inspecting them (e.g., Fig. 3.19) it is still relatively easy to see which POF dominates the other. However, this is not the case for 3D multi-objective algorithms, where hundreds of solutions are given as a POF in a 3D space. Therefore, in order to perform a comparison between POFs, a more accurate comparison should be performed by using performance metrics, specifically developed for this purpose. In this thesis, two different metrics will be used: hypervolume and coverage set. The hypervolume metric given an insight on diversity and convergence the POF is, while the coverage set allows performing binary comparisons between two fronts, as it gives the percentage of points of each front dominated by the other one [124].

The hypervolume is basically a calculation of the union of the hypercubes determined by each solution in the objective space and a reference point (see Fig. 3.21). A feature of the hypervolume metric is that it does not require any knowledge of the true Pareto front, which especially convenient in our engineering problem in which the true Pareto front is not known. The hypervolume metric depends on the selected reference point, hence, the same reference point must be used in both cases, in order to fairly compare the Pareto fronts generated with the two different techniques.

Furthermore, given two solution sets, P_1 and P_2 , the set coverage is defined as:

$$C(P_1, P_2) = \frac{|\{b \in P_2 | \exists a \in P_1, a \le b\}|}{|P_2|}$$
(3.49)

where $a \le b$ means that *a* dominates *b*. A similar value of $C(P_1, P_2)$ and $C(P_2, P_1)$ implies that no front is better than the other. In practice, given two solution sets, P_1 and P_2 , the set coverage is defined as



Figure 3.21: Illustrating the hypervolume calculation.

 $C(P_1, P_2)$, which is the ratio of solutions in P_2 that are dominated by at least one solution in P_1 , e.g., if $C(P_1, P_2)=1$, it means that all solutions in P_2 are dominated by P_1 .

The hypervolume of the Pareto front obtained with the EMO approach was $HV_{EMO} = 10674$ and that with the OFFSO approach (after electromagnetically simulating the final results) was $HV_{OFFSO} = 10604$, which is very similar. Regarding the set coverage, the calculated figures were:

 $C(PF_{EM}, PF_{OFFSO}) = 0.16$

 $C(PF_{OFFSO}, PF_{EM}) = 0.14$

that indicates that practically the same percentage of points are dominated by the other front.

The EMO optimization took 1926.39 hours (roughly 80 days CPU time)² while the OFFSO lasted 7 minutes, which is an incredible increase in efficiency while obtaining very similar Pareto fronts due to the accuracy of the surrogate model. It is also interesting to compare the results with those of the optimization using the surrogate model without the first filtering stage, i.e., the OFFSO_{*NF*} methods. Fig. 3.22 compares the results of the EMO approach and the OFFSO_{*NF*} approach (after electromagnetically simulating the final results). There are areas of the Pareto front that are not found with the surrogate based optimization (infeasible points are not plotted). These areas mostly correspond to inductors with larger number of turns, where the SRF is considerably lower and the SRF filtering approach becomes more noticeably for the 2.5GHz operating frequency.

The hypervolume of the Pareto front obtained now with the OFFSO_{NF} approach (after electromagnetically simulating the final results) was $HV_{OFFSO_{NF}}$ =9626, which is clearly inferior to the EMO and OFFSO approaches. Regarding the set coverage, the calculated figures were:

$$C(PF_{EM}, PF_{OFFSO_{NF}}) = 0.22$$

 $\mathsf{C}(\mathsf{PF}_{OFFSO_{NF}}, PF_{EM}) = 0.13$

that indicates that the quality of the surrogate model has clearly decreased. It is possible to conclude

²The elapsed time reduces to 144 hours when all cores of the twin 6-core processor are used.



Figure 3.22: EM simulation of Pareto-optimal front for a 3 objective optimization, maximization of quality factor and inductance and minimization of area using EMO and OFFSO_{NF} methods.

that the application of surrogate modeling strategies can enhance the efficiency-accuracy trade-off of conventional analytical or EM-based inductor optimization techniques for RF integrated circuits. The new two-step surrogate modeling strategy dramatically improves the modeling accuracy of integrated inductors.

It can be concluded, that prescreening techniques can be used in surrogate-assisted optimization techniques in order to achieve similar results to EM-based approaches with a significantly lower computation time. However, it is also found that similar or better results are obtained if offline surrogate models with a sufficient number of inductor samples are created following the proposed modeling strategy. Much lower CPU times must be invested during the optimization process since expensive EM simulations are not performed during the optimization stage. The quality of the results of the proposed strategy is also competitive in multi-objective optimization problems, whereas orders of magnitude computation time is saved.

3.4. SIDe-O: A Tool for Modeling and Optimization of Integrated Inductors

During the past few years, an immense effort has been made by the research community for the development of CAD tools for RF circuit design [125]. CAD tools for the design of integrated inductors have been reported in literature, such as ASITIC [126] or SISP [101]. However, these tools are based on physical/analytical models, which typically present accuracy issues in some design space areas and at higher frequencies, as was shown in the previous Section. Currently, foundries and EDA companies provide tools for inductor design and optimization, but with some drawbacks: either analytical models are used to model inductors, presenting accuracy issues, or limited optimization options are provided

to the user. More commercial tools such as Helics' VeloceRF are also available on the market. This tool provides accurate models based on an electromagnetic engine (more expensive simulations) and the tool allows inductor optimization, but also with limited options (only maximization of the quality factor). Furthermore, no available tool allows multi-objective optimizations, which may be very useful nowadays for obtaining design trade-offs for a given technology and performing design space exploration.

In this section a new MATLAB toolbox, called SIDe-O, is presented [127]. This toolbox provides accurate inductor models (based on the surrogate modeling techniques previously presented), diverse and complex optimization options and is, to the best of the author's knowledge, the first tool to ever allow multi-objective optimization of integrated inductors. The toolbox presented in this Section won the SMACD 2016 electronic design automation competition.

3.4.1. Designer Interface

In this section, only an introduction to the designer interface of the toolbox is given, as the fundamental techniques have been described in previous Sections. The complete designer interface can be observed in Fig. 3.23. The surrogate models used in the toolbox were developed in MATLAB, therefore, for a straightforward integration, the graphical user interface (GUI) was also developed in MATLAB. The GUI is multi-tabbed, with each tab suited for a different operation.

The first tab in Fig. 3.23a, *Inductor Simulation*, allows the user to simulate different inductor topologies, for a given working frequency and also to draw the inductance and quality factor curve along the entire frequency range for which the models are built.

The second tab in Fig. 3.23b, *Inductor Optimization*, allows the user to perform single- and multiobjective optimization of inductors. In single-objective optimization, the objectives of the optimization can be changed. The tool allows the user to maximize the quality factor, minimize the area, or both (by means of a weighted function where the weights of the function can be selected by the user) while achieving a given inductance. The multi-objective optimization can be performed either with two different sets of objectives: a two-objective optimization, maximizing quality factor and inductance, or a three-objective optimization, where quality factor and inductance are maximized and area is minimized. In both optimization algorithms, constraints are applied in order to guarantee that the selected inductors can operate at the chosen working frequency (WF). These constraints are specified in Eqs. (3.43)-(3.47).

The third tab in Fig. 3.23c, *Build Model*, allows the user to build his/her own models for other technology processes or inductor topologies, by providing a training set for the surrogate modeling. By providing a test set it is also possible to validate the model automatically with the tool. Afterwards, the mean relative errors of the model are shown in a table for immediate model validation. Moreover, once the new model is built, it is automatically included as an option in the topologies popup menu of the other tabs and suitable for immediate simulation and optimization. All tabs have a message board and a README file, which are appropriate for an easy tool usage. The tool allows the user to



Figure 3.23: SIDe-O graphical user interface (GUI) shown in separate tabs. (a) Tab for inductor simulation. (b) Tab for inductor optimization. (c) Tab to build new inductor models.

generate an S-Parameter file for any given inductor. This S-Parameter file can afterwards be used in a modern simulator, such as HspiceRF or SpectreRF for an accurate description of the inductor behavior. For example, the AnalogLib library of Cadence has a device particularly for this purpose, the *nport*.

The SIDe-O tool, presented is this Section, will be further used in this thesis in order to model inductors in several optimization-based circuit design methodologies.

7

Conclusions

The design of RF circuits is highly complex, with difficult to manage and convoluted trade-offs. The usage of systematic design methodologies can help to design these RF circuits more efficiently, hence reducing the time-to-market. This was the main topic of this dissertation: to focus on the development of new systematic design methodologies capable of improving the state-of-the-art, cut short the distance between the RF and digital automatic design tools and reducing the time-to-market, therefore, shortening the existing productivity design gap in RF circuit design. In order to establish a methodology which is able to accurately design RF circuits, several bottlenecks of the RF design were tackled in this thesis. One of the most well-known bottlenecks in RF design, is the accurate, and efficient, modeling of integrated inductors.

In this thesis, a state-of-the-art surrogate modeling strategy for integrated inductors was developed. The presented model has less than 1% error when compared to EM simulations, while reducing the simulation time by three orders of magnitude. Several different models were created for different inductor topologies, all of them achieving negligible errors when compared to EM simulations. Due to the accurate and efficient surrogate model developed, its usage in optimization methodologies is encouraged. In this thesis, several different inductor synthesis strategies were compared. From this comparison it was possible to conclude that building an accurate global surrogate model shows very significant advantages when compared to state-of-the-art surrogate-assisted optimization strategies (ONSO and ONSOEI). Furthermore, a tool for the design and optimization of integrated inductors, SIDe-O, was developed. SIDe-O also allows the creation of S-parameter files that accurately describe the behavior of inductors for a given range of frequencies, which can later be used in electrical simulations for circuit design in commercial environments. The surrogate models developed, and integrated in the tool, provide a solution to the problem of accurately and efficiently modeling and optimizing inductors,

which alleviates the bottleneck that these devices represent in the RF circuit design process.

In this thesis, bottom-up design methodologies were applied to the design of RF circuits, starting from the lowest possible level: device level. The methodology uses the developed SIDe-O tool in order to generate Pareto fronts of inductors, which can later be used in circuit simulations. Furthermore, several different simulation strategies are used in order to reduce the circuit simulation time. By using such strategies some of the most expensive RF performances (e.g., third-order intercept point) can be efficiently calculated and considered during the automated design of RF Furthermore, since in RF the layout parasitics are so destructive, a layout-aware circuits. methodology was developed specifically for the design of RF circuits. The methodology uses multi-objective optimization algorithms and a bottom-up design methodology. An automatic layout generation is performed during the optimization for each sizing solution using a state-of-the-art module generator, template-based placer and router, which were specifically developed for RF circuits. The proposed approach exploits the full capabilities of most established computer-aided design tools for RF design available nowadays, such as the RF circuit simulator as performance evaluator and commercial layout parasitic extractor to determine the complete circuit layout Furthermore, the inductor parasitics are considered using the previously developed parasitics. The methodology developed also allows the user to consider the corner surrogate model. performances during not only the sizing optimization, but also during the layout-aware optimization, increasing therefore the design robustness. Finally a multilevel bottom-up strategy was illustrated and applied to RF circuits for the first time. By using such multilevel bottom-up strategy, different circuits can be connected in order to build an RF system. Furthermore, each level of the hierarchy is simulated with the upmost accuracy possible: EM accuracy at device level and transistor-level simulations at circuit/system level. Moreover, the methodology encourages the hierarchical low-level POF reuse, which is typical in bottom-up methodologies.

In summary, this thesis presented a new multilevel approach to design RF systems, where the system is designed in a bottom-up fashion, starting from the device level stage. Furthermore, at each stage of the design hierarchy, several aspects are taken into account in order to increase the design robustness, such as: inductor accurate characterization, layout parasitics and process variability.

Bibliography

- [1] P. Rost, A. Banchs, I. Berberana, M. Breitbach, M. Doll, H. Droste, C. Mannweiler, M. A. Puente, K. Samdanis, and B. Sayadi, "Mobile network architecture evolution toward 5G," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 54, pp. 84–91, May 2016.
- [2] https://www.statista.com/statistics/330695/number-of-smartphone-users-worldwide. Accessed: 7-02-2018.
- [3] http://www.gartner.com/newsroom/id/3598917. Accessed: 7-02-18.
- [4] http://www.icinsights.com/news/bulletins/Fabless-IC-Company-Sales-Top-100-Billion-For-First-Time-Ever/. Accessed: 7-02-18.
- [5] S. L. Hurst, VLSI Custom Microelectronics: Digital, Analog, and Mixed-Signal. New York, NY, USA: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1999.
- [6] M. G. R. Degrauwe, O. Nys, E. Dijkstra, J. Rijmenants, S. Bitz, B. L. A. G. Goffart, E. A. Vittoz, S. Cserveny, C. Meixenberger, G. van der Stappen, and H. J. Oguey, "IDAC: an interactive design tool for analog cmos circuits," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 22, pp. 1106–1116, Dec 1987.
- [7] R. Harjani, R. A. Rutenbar, and L. R. Carley, "OASYS: a framework for analog circuit synthesis," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 8, pp. 1247–1266, Dec 1989.
- [8] N. C. Horta and J. E. Franca, "Algorithm-driven synthesis of data conversion architectures," IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, vol. 16, pp. 1116– 1135, Oct 1997.
- [9] F. El-Turky and E. E. Perry, "BLADES: an artificial intelligence approach to analog circuit design," IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, vol. 8, pp. 680– 692, Jun 1989.
- [10] C. A. Makris and C. Toumazou, "Analog ic design automation. II. automated circuit correction by qualitative reasoning," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 14, pp. 239–254, Feb 1995.

- [11] V. M. zu Bexten, C. Moraga, R. Klinke, W. Brockherde, and K. G. Hess, "ALSYN: flexible rule-based layout synthesis for analog IC's," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 28, pp. 261–268, Mar 1993.
- [12] B. R. Owen, R. Duncan, S. Jantzi, C. Ouslis, S. Rezania, and K. Martin, "Ballistic: an analog layout language," in *Proceedings of the IEEE 1995 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, pp. 41–44, May 1995.
- [13] H. Y. Koh, C. H. Sequin, and P. R. Gray, "OPASYN: a compiler for cmos operational amplifiers," IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, vol. 9, pp. 113– 125, Feb 1990.
- [14] G. G. E. Gielen, H. C. C. Walscharts, and W. M. C. Sansen, "Analog circuit design optimization based on symbolic simulation and simulated annealing," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 25, pp. 707–713, Jun 1990.
- [15] G. G. E. Gielen, H. C. C. Walscharts, and W. M. C. Sansen, "ISAAC: a symbolic simulator for analog integrated circuits," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 24, pp. 1587–1597, Dec 1989.
- [16] K. Swings and W. Sansen, "DONALD: a workbench for interactive design space exploration and sizing of analog circuits," pp. 475–479, Feb 1991.
- [17] P. C. Maulik, L. R. Carley, and D. J. Allstot, "Sizing of cell-level analog circuits using constrained optimization techniques," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 28, pp. 233–241, Mar 1993.
- [18] E. S. Ochotta, R. A. Rutenbar, and L. R. Carley, "Synthesis of high-performance analog circuits in astrx/oblx," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 15, pp. 273–294, Mar 1996.
- [19] F. Medeiro, B. Perez-Verdu, A. Rodriguez-Vazquez, and J. L. Huertas, "A vertically-integrated tool for automated design of sigma-delta modulators," in *European Solid-State Circuits Conference*, *ESSCIRC*, pp. 164–167, Sept 1994.
- [20] A. Doboli, N. Dhanwada, A. Nunez-Aldana, and R. Vemuri, "A two-layer library-based approach to synthesis of analog systems from VHDL-AMS specifications," ACM Trans. Des. Autom. Electron. Syst., vol. 9, pp. 238–271, Apr. 2004.
- [21] K. Matsukawa, T. Morie, Y. Tokunaga, S. Sakiyama, Y. Mitani, M. Takayama, T. Miki, A. Matsumoto, K. Obata, and S. Dosho, "Design methods for pipeline and delta-sigma A-to-D converters with convex optimization," in *Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference*, pp. 690–695, Jan 2009.

- [22] L. W. Nagel, SPICE2: A Computer Program to Simulate Semiconductor Circuits. PhD thesis, EECS Department, University of California, Berkeley, 1975.
- [23] W. Nye, D. C. Riley, A. Sangiovanni-Vincentelli, and A. L. Tits, "Delight.spice: an optimizationbased system for the design of integrated circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design* of Integrated Circuits and Systems, vol. 7, pp. 501–519, Apr 1988.
- [24] F. Medeiro, F. V. Fernandez, R. Dominguez-Castro, and A. Rodriguez-Vazquez, "A statistical optimization-based approach for automated sizing of analog cells," in *IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer-Aided Design*, pp. 594–597, Nov 1994.
- [25] J. R. Koza, F. H. Bennett, D. Andre, M. A. Keane, and F. Dunlap, "Automated synthesis of analog electrical circuits by means of genetic programming," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 1, pp. 109–128, Jul 1997.
- [26] R. Phelps, M. Krasnicki, R. A. Rutenbar, L. R. Carley, and J. R. Hellums, "ANACONDA: simulationbased synthesis of analog circuits via stochastic pattern search," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 19, pp. 703–717, Jun 2000.
- [27] M. Krasnicki, R. Phelps, R. A. Rutenbar, and L. R. Carley, "MAELSTROM: efficient simulationbased synthesis for custom analog cells," in *Proceedings 1999 Design Automation Conference*, pp. 945–950, 1999.
- [28] G. Zhang, A. Dengi, and L. R. Carley, "Automatic synthesis of a 2.1 GHz SiGe low noise amplifier," in IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits (RFICs) Symposium. Digest of Papers, pp. 125–128, June 2002.
- [29] G. Alpaydin, S. Balkir, and G. Dundar, "An evolutionary approach to automatic synthesis of highperformance analog integrated circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 7, pp. 240–252, June 2003.
- [30] P. Vancorenland, C. D. Ranter, M. Steyaert, and G. Gielen, "Optimal RF design using smart evolutionary algorithms," in *Proceedings 37th Design Automation Conference*, pp. 7–10, June 2000.
- [31] E. Malavasi, H. Chang, A. Sangiovanni-Vincentelli, E. Charbon, U. Choudhury, E. Felt, G. Jusuf,
 E. Liu, and R. Neff, A Top-Down, Constraint-Driven Design Methodology for Analog Integrated Circuits, pp. 285–324. Boston, MA: Springer US, 1993.
- [32] I. Vassiliou, Design Methodologies for RF and Mixed-Signal Systems. PhD thesis, EECS Department, University of California, Berkeley, 1999.
- [33] G. G. E. Gielen, "System-level design tools for RF communication ICs," in URSI International Symposium on Signals, Systems, and Electronics. Conference Proceedings, pp. 422–426, Sep 1998.

- [34] D. L. Gonzalez, A. Rusu, W. Xu, and M. Ismail, "TACT as a learning tool for radio design," in *IEEE International Conference on Microelectronic Systems Education*, pp. 71–72, June 2007.
- [35] R. Gonzalez-Echevarria, E. Roca, R. Castro-Lopez, F. Fernandez, J. Sieiro, J. M. Lopez-Villegas, and N. Vidal, "An automated design methodology of RF circuits by using pareto-optimal fronts of EM-simulated inductors," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 36, pp. 15–26, Jan. 2017.
- [36] J. Roychowdhury, "Algorithmic methods for bottom-up generation of system-level RF macromodels," in *First International Symposium on Control, Communications and Signal Processing*, pp. 57–62, 2004.
- [37] T. Maehne, A. Vachoux, F. Giroud, and M. Contaldo, "A VHDL-AMS modeling methodology for top-down/bottom-up design of RF systems," in 2009 Forum on Specification Design Languages (FDL), pp. 1–7, Sept 2009.
- [38] G. Gielen, T. Eeckelaert, E. Martens, and T. McConaghy, "Automated synthesis of complex analog circuits," in *18th European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design*, pp. 20–23, Aug 2007.
- [39] W. R. Sanchez, A Hierarchical Bottom-up, Equation-Based Optimization Design Methodology. PhD thesis, EECS Department, MIT, 2007.
- [40] R. Póvoa, I. Bastos, N. Lourenço, and N. Horta, "Automatic synthesis of RF front-end blocks using multi-objective evolutionary techniques," *Integration, the VLSI Journal*, vol. 52, pp. 243– 252, Jan. 2016.
- [41] J. Rijmenants, J. B. Litsios, T. R. Schwarz, and M. G. R. Degrauwe, "ILAC: an automated layout tool for analog cmos circuits," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 24, pp. 417–425, Apr 1989.
- [42] E. Malavasi, E. Charbon, E. Felt, and A. Sangiovanni-Vincentelli, "Automation of ic layout with analog constraints," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 15, pp. 923–942, Aug 1996.
- [43] "SpectreRF." https://www.cadence.com/. Accessed: 7-02-2018.
- [44] "EldoRF." https://www.mentor.com/. Accessed: 7-02-2018.
- [45] "HspiceRF." https://www.synopsys.com/. Accessed: 7-02-2018.
- [46] N. Pulsford, "Passive integration technology: Targeting small accurate rf parts," *RF Design*, pp. 40–48, Nov 2002.
- [47] G. Tulunay and S. Balkir, "Synthesis of RF CMOS low noise amplifiers," in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, pp. 880–883, May 2008.
- [48] C. De Ranter, G. Van der Plas, M. Steyaert, G. Gielen, and W. Sansen, "CYCLONE: automated design and layout of RF LC-oscillators," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 21, pp. 1161–1170, Oct 2002.
- [49] R. Gupta, B. M. Ballweber, and D. J. Allstot, "Design and optimization of CMOS RF power amplifiers," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, pp. 166–175, Feb 2001.
- [50] C. Yue and S. Wong, "Physical modeling of spiral inductors on silicon," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 47, pp. 560–568, Mar 2000.
- [51] A. Nieuwoudt, T. Ragheb, and Y. Massoud, "Hierarchical optimization methodology for wideband low noise amplifiers," in *Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference*, pp. 68–73, Jan 2007.
- [52] Y. Xu, K. L. Hsiung, X. Li, L. T. Pileggi, and S. P. Boyd, "Regular analog/RF integrated circuits design using optimization with recourse including ellipsoidal uncertainty," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 28, pp. 623–637, May 2009.
- [53] E. Afacan and G. Dündar, "A mixed domain sizing approach for RF circuit synthesis," in *IEEE 19th International Symposium on Design and Diagnostics of Electronic Circuits Systems*, pp. 1–4, April 2016.
- [54] F. Passos, M. Kotti, R. González-Echevarría, M. H. Fino, M. Fakhfakh, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, and F. V. Fernández, "Physical vs. surrogate models of passive rf devices," in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, pp. 117–120, May 2015.
- [55] R. Gonzalez-Echevarria, R. Castro-Lopez, E. Roca, F. Fernandez, J. Sieiro, N. Vidal, and J. Lopez-Villegas, "Automated generation of the optimal performance trade-offs of integrated inductors," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 33, pp. 1269–1273, Aug 2014.
- [56] S. K. Mandal, S. Sural, and A. Patra, "ANN- and PSO-based synthesis of on-chip spiral inductors for RF ICs," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 27, pp. 188–192, Jan 2008.
- [57] B. Liu, D. Zhao, P. Reynaert, and G. G. E. Gielen, "Synthesis of integrated passive components for high-frequency RF ICs based on evolutionary computation and machine learning techniques," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 30, pp. 1458–1468, Oct 2011.
- [58] M. Ballicchia and S. Orcioni, "Design and modeling of optimum quality spiral inductors with regularization and debye approximation," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 29, pp. 1669–1681, Nov 2010.

- [59] I. Paenke, J. Branke, and Y. Jin, "Efficient search for robust solutions by means of evolutionary algorithms and fitness approximation," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, pp. 405–420, Aug 2006.
- [60] F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, and F. Fernández, "Radio-frequency inductor synthesis using evolutionary computation and Gaussian-process surrogate modeling," *Applied Soft Computing*, vol. 60, pp. 495 – 507, 2017.
- [61] M. T. M. Emmerich, K. C. Giannakoglou, and B. Naujoks, "Single- and multiobjective evolutionary optimization assisted by gaussian random field metamodels," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, pp. 421–439, Aug 2006.
- [62] J. Knowles, "ParEGO: a hybrid algorithm with on-line landscape approximation for expensive multiobjective optimization problems," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, pp. 50–66, Feb 2006.
- [63] Q. Zhang, W. Liu, E. Tsang, and B. Virginas, "Expensive multiobjective optimization by MOEA/D with Gaussian process model," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 14, pp. 456– 474, June 2010.
- [64] M. Ranjan, A. Bhaduri, W. Verhaegen, B. Mukherjee, R. Vemuri, G. Gielen, and A. Pacelli, "Use of symbolic performance models in layout-inclusive RF low noise amplifier synthesis," in *Proceedings* of the 2004 IEEE International Behavioral Modeling and Simulation Conference, pp. 130–134, Oct 2004.
- [65] T. Liao and L. Zhang, "Parasitic-aware GP-based many-objective sizing methodology for analog and RF integrated circuits," in 22nd Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference (ASP-DAC), pp. 475–480, Jan 2017.
- [66] G. Zhang, A. Dengi, R. A. Rohrer, R. A. Rutenbar, and L. R. Carley, "A synthesis flow toward fast parasitic closure for radio-frequency integrated circuits," in *Proceedings of the 41st Annual Design Automation Conference*, pp. 155–158, 2004.
- [67] A. Agarwal and R. Vemuri, "Layout-aware RF circuit synthesis driven by worst case parasitic corners," in *International Conference on Computer Design*, pp. 444–449, Oct 2005.
- [68] D. Ghai, S. P. Mohanty, and E. Kougianos, "Design of parasitic and process-variation aware nano-CMOS RF circuits: A VCO case study," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. 17, pp. 1339–1342, Sept 2009.
- [69] P. Vancorenland, G. V. der Plas, M. Steyaert, G. Gielen, and W. Sansen, "A layout-aware synthesis methodology for RF circuits," in *IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer Aided Design*, pp. 358–362, Nov 2001.

- [70] A. Bhaduri, V. Vijay, A. Agarwal, R. Vemuri, B. Mukherjee, P. Wang, and A. Pacelli, "Parasitic-aware synthesis of RF LNA circuits considering quasi-static extraction of inductors and interconnects," in *Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, vol. 1, pp. I–477–80 vol.1, July 2004.
- [71] J. Kampe, C. Wisser, and G. Scarbata, "Module generators for a regular analog layout," in Proceedings International Conference on Computer Design VLSI in Computers and Processors, pp. 280–285, Oct 1996.
- [72] R. Castro-Lopez, O. Guerra, E. Roca, and F. V. Fernandez, "An integrated layout-synthesis approach for analog ICs," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits* and Systems, vol. 27, pp. 1179–1189, July 2008.
- [73] G. Berkol, A. Unutulmaz, E. Afacan, G. Dündar, F. V. Fernandez, A. E. Pusane, and F. Başkaya, "A two-step layout-in-the-loop design automation tool," June 2015.
- [74] N. Lourenço, R. Martins, A. Canelas, R. Póvoa, and N. Horta, "AIDA: Layout-aware analog circuitlevel sizing with in-loop layout generation," *Integration, the VLSI Journal*, vol. 55, no. Supplement C, pp. 316 – 329, 2016.
- [75] N. Lourenço, R. Martins, and N. Horta, "Layout-aware sizing of analog ICs using floorplan & routing estimates for parasitic extraction," in *Proceedings of the 2015 Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition*, DATE '15, (San Jose, CA, USA), pp. 1156–1161, EDA Consortium, 2015.
- [76] T. McConaghy, K. Breen, J. Dyck, and A. Gupta, *Variation-Aware Design*, pp. 169–186. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2013.
- [77] N. Lourenço and N. Horta, "GENOM-POF: Multi-objective evolutionary synthesis of analog ICs with corners validation," in *Proceedings of the 14th Annual Conference on Genetic and Evolutionary Computation*, GECCO, pp. 1119–1126, 2012.
- [78] T. McConaghy and G. G. E. Gielen, "Globally reliable variation-aware sizing of analog integrated circuits via response surfaces and structural homotopy," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 28, pp. 1627–1640, Nov 2009.
- [79] G. Berkol, E. Afacan, G. Dündar, A. E. Pusane, and F. Başkaya, "A novel yield aware multiobjective analog circuit optimization tool," in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, pp. 2652–2655, May 2015.
- [80] B. Liu, F. V. Fernandez, and G. G. E. Gielen, "Efficient and accurate statistical analog yield optimization and variation-aware circuit sizing based on computational intelligence techniques," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 30, pp. 793–805, June 2011.

- [81] A. Canelas, R. Martins, R. Póvoa, N. Lourenço, and N. Horta, "Efficient yield optimization method using a variable K-means algorithm for analog IC sizing," in *Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition (DATE)*, pp. 1201–1206, March 2017.
- [82] J. Crols, S. Donnay, M. Steyaert, and G. Gielen, "A high-level design and optimization tool for analog RF receiver front-ends," in *Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Computer Aided Design (ICCAD)*, pp. 550–553, Nov 1995.
- [83] D. Gonzalez, A. Rusu, and M. Ismail, "Tackling 4G challenges with "TACT" design and optimization of 4G radio receivers with a transceiver architecture comparison tool (TACT)," IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine, vol. 22, pp. 16–23, Nov 2006.
- [84] M. El-Nozahi, K. Entesari, and E. Sanchez-Sinencio, "A systematic system level design methodology for dual band cmos RF receivers," in *50th Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, pp. 1014–1017, Aug 2007.
- [85] S. Rodriguez, J. G. Atallah, A. Rusu, L.-R. Zheng, and M. Ismail, "ARCHER: an automated RF-IC Rx front-end circuit design tool," *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 58, pp. 255–270, Mar 2009.
- [86] Z. Pan, C. Qin, Z. Ye, and Y. Wang, "Automatic design for analog/RF front-end system in 802.11ac receiver," in *The 20th Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference*, pp. 454–459, Jan 2015.
- [87] B. Liu, G. G. E. Gielen, and F. V. Fernández, "Automated design of analog and high-frequency circuits - a computational intelligence approach," 2014.
- [88] G. Tulunay and S. Balkir, "A synthesis tool for CMOS RF low-noise amplifiers," IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, vol. 27, pp. 977–982, May 2008.
- [89] M. Chu and D. J. Allstot, "Elitist nondominated sorting genetic algorithm based RF IC optimizer," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 52, pp. 535–545, March 2005.
- [90] D. K. Shaeffer, The Design And Implementation Of Low-Power CMOS Radio Receivers. Springer Science Business Media, 1999.
- [91] P. I. Mak, S. P. U, and R. P. Martins, "Transceiver architecture selection: Review, state-of-the-art survey and case study," *IEEE Circuits and Systems Magazine*, vol. 7, pp. 6–25, Second 2007.
- [92] B. Razavi, RF Microelectronics. Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1998.
- [93] S. Bronckers, A. Roc'h, and B. Smolders, "Wireless receiver architectures towards 5G: Where are we?," *IEEE Circuits and Systems Magazine*, vol. 17, pp. 6–16, thirdquarter 2017.
- [94] C. Toumazou, G. Moschytz, B. Gilbert, and G. Kathiresan, *Trade-Offs in Analog Circuit Design*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1st ed., 2002.

- [95] R. Li, RF Circuit Design, Second Edition. Wiley, 2nd ed., 2002.
- [96] C. Samori, "Understanding phase noise in LC VCOs: A key problem in RF integrated circuits," IEEE Solid-State Circuits Magazine, vol. 8, pp. 81–91, Fall 2016.
- [97] K. Okada and K. Masu, *Modeling of Spiral Inductors*. INTECH Open Access Publisher, 2010.
- [98] N. Talwalkar, C. Yue, and S. Wong, "Analysis and synthesis of on-chip spiral inductors," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 176–182, 2005.
- [99] S. S. Mohan, M. D. M. Hershenson, S. P. Boyd, and T. H. Lee, "Simple accurate expressions for planar spiral inductances," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, pp. 1419–1424, 1999.
- [100] H. Greenhouse, "Design of planar rectangular microelectronic inductors," IEEE Transactions on Parts, Hybrids, and Packaging, vol. 10, pp. 101–109, 1974.
- [101] Y. Koutsoyannopoulos and Y. Papananos, "Systematic analysis and modeling of integrated inductors and transformers in RF IC design," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing*, vol. 47, pp. 699–713, Aug 2000.
- [102] C.-H. Wu, C.-C. Tang, and S.-I. Liu, "Analysis of on-chip spiral inductors using the distributed capacitance model," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1040–1044, 2003.
- [103] H. Hasegawa, M. Furukawa, and H. Yanai, "Properties of microstrip line on si-sio2 system," IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 19, no. 11, pp. 869–881, 1971.
- [104] C. Wang, H. Liao, C. Li, R. Huang, W. Wong, X. Zhang, and Y. Wang, "A wideband predictive double-pi equivalent-circuit model for on-chip spiral inductors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 56, pp. 609–619, April 2009.
- [105] F. W. Grover, "Inductance calculations: Working formulas and tables," Courier Dover Publications, 1929.
- [106] I. Bahl, Lumped Elements for RF and Microwave Circuits. 2003.
- [107] F. Passos, M. Fino, E. Roca, R. Gonzalez-Echevarria, and F. Fernandez, "Lumped element model for arbitrarily shaped integrated inductors - a statistical analysis," in *IEEE International Conference on Microwaves, Communications, Antennas and Electronics Systems (COMCAS)*, pp. 1–5, Oct 2013.
- [108] A. I. J. Forrester, A. Sobester, and A. J. Keane, *Engineering Design via Surrogate Modelling A Practical Guide.* Wiley, 2008.
- [109] "ADS Momentum." http://www.keysight.com/en/pc-1887116/momentum-3d-planar-emsimulator. Accessed: 7-02-18.

- [110] M. B. Yelten, T. Zhu, S. Koziel, P. D. Franzon, and M. B. Steer, "Demystifying surrogate modeling for circuits and systems," *IEEE Circuits and Systems Magazine*, vol. 12, pp. 45–63, Firstquarter 2012.
- [111] D. Gorissen et al, "A surrogate modeling and adaptive sampling toolbox for computer based design," *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, vol. 11, pp. 2051–2055, Aug 2010.
- [112] "DACE." http://www.imm.dtu.dk/ hbni/dace/. Accessed: 7-02-18.
- [113] "MATLAB." https://www.mathworks.com/products/matlab.html. Accessed: 7-02-18.
- [114] B. Bischl, O. Mersmann, H. Trautmann, and C. Weihs, "Resampling methods for meta-model validation with recommendations for evolutionary computation," *Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 20, pp. 249–275, June 2012.
- [115] F. Ferranti, L. Knockaert, T. Dhaene, and G. Antonini, "Parametric macromodeling based on amplitude and frequency scaled systems with guaranteed passivity," *International Journal of Numerical Modelling: Electronic Networks, Devices and Fields*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 139–151, 2012.
- [116] F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, F. V. Fernández, Y. Ye, D. Spina, and T. Dhaene, "Frequencydependent parameterized macromodeling of integrated inductors," June 2016.
- [117] J. Kennedy and R. Eberhart, "Particle swarm optimization," IEEE International Conference on Neural Networks, vol. 4, pp. 1942–1948, Nov 1995.
- [118] K. Deb, A. Pratap, S. Agarwal, and T. Meyarivan, "A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 6, pp. 182–197, Apr 2002.
- [119] K. Deb, "An efficient constraint handling method for genetic algorithms," Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, vol. 186, no. 24, pp. 311 – 338, 2000.
- [120] I. Paenke, J. Branke, and Y. Jin, "Efficient search for robust solutions by means of evolutionary algorithms and fitness approximation," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, pp. 405–420, Aug 2006.
- [121] D. R. Jones, M. Schonlau, and W. J. Welch, "Efficient global optimization of expensive black-box functions," *Journal of Global Optimization*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 455–492, 1998.
- [122] J. Knowles, "ParEGO: a hybrid algorithm with on-line landscape approximation for expensive multiobjective optimization problems," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, pp. 50–66, Feb 2006.

- [123] M. T. M. Emmerich, K. C. Giannakoglou, and B. Naujoks, "Single- and multiobjective evolutionary optimization assisted by Gaussian random field metamodels," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, pp. 421–439, Aug 2006.
- [124] E. Zitzler and L. Thiele, "Multiobjective evolutionary algorithms: a comparative case study and the strength pareto approach," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 3, pp. 257– 271, Nov 1999.
- [125] G. G. E. Gielen, "CAD tools for embedded analogue circuits in mixed-signal integrated systems on chip," *IEEE Proceedings - Computers and Digital Techniques*, vol. 152, pp. 317–332, May 2005.
- [126] A. M. Niknejad and R. G. Meyer, "Analysis, design, and optimization of spiral inductors and transformers for si rf ics," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, pp. 1470–1481, Oct 1998.
- [127] F. Passos, E. Roca, R. Castro-López, and F. Fernández, "An inductor modeling and optimization toolbox for RF circuit design," *Integration, the VLSI Journal*, vol. 58, pp. 463 – 472, 2017.
- [128] H. Zhang and E. Sanchez-Sinencio, "Linearization techniques for CMOS low noise amplifiers: A tutorial," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 58, pp. 22–36, Jan 2011.
- [129] M. Velasco-Jiménez, R. Castro-López, E. Roca, and F. V. Fernández, "Implementation issues in the hierarchical composition of performance models of analog circuits," in *Proceedings of the Conference on Design, Automation & Test in Europe*, DATE, pp. 12:1–12:6, 2014.
- [130] D. Ham and A. Hajimiri, "Concepts and methods in optimization of integrated LC VCOs," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, pp. 896–909, Jun 2001.
- [131] L. Fanori and P. Andreani, "Class-D CMOS oscillators," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, pp. 3105–3119, Dec 2013.
- [132] R. Martins, N. Lourenço, S. Rodrigues, J. Guilherme, and N. Horta, "AIDA: Automated analog ic design flow from circuit level to layout," in *International Conference on Synthesis, Modeling, Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD)*, pp. 29–32, Sept 2012.
- [133] R. Martins, Placement, Routing and Parasitic Extraction Techniques applied to Analog IC Design Automation. PhD thesis, Universidade de Lisboa, Instituto Superior Tecnico, 2015.
- [134] R. Martins, N. Lourenço, and N. Horta, "LAYGEN II: Automatic layout generation of analog integrated circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 32, pp. 1641–1654, Nov 2013.

- [135] R. Martins, N. Lourenço, A. Canelas, and N. Horta, "Electromigration-aware and IR-drop avoidance routing in analog multiport terminal structures," in *Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition (DATE)*, pp. 1–6, March 2014.
- [136] H. Friis, "Noise figures of radio receivers," *Proceedings of the IRE*, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 419–422, 1944.
- [137] T. Eeckelaert, R. Schoofs, G. Gielen, M. Steyaert, and W. Sansen, "An efficient methodology for hierarchical synthesis of mixed-signal systems with fully integrated building block topology selection," in *Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition*, pp. 1–6, April 2007.
- [138] A. A. E. Emira, Bluetooth/WLAN receiver design methodology and IC implementations. PhD thesis, EECS Department, Texas AM University, Texas, 2003.
- [139] P. van Zeijl, J. W. T. Eikenbroek, P. P. Vervoort, S. Setty, J. Tangenherg, G. Shipton, E. Kooistra, I. C. Keekstra, D. Belot, K. Visser, E. Bosma, and S. C. Blaakmeer, "A Bluetooth radio in 0.18-μm cmos," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 37, pp. 1679–1687, Dec 2002.
- [140] M. Chen, K. H. Wang, D. Zhao, L. Dai, Z. Soe, and P. Rogers, "A CMOS Bluetooth radio transceiver using a sliding-IF architecture," in *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, pp. 455–458, Sept 2003.